

National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A ON4

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

NOTICE

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.



1

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

BIT-BY-BIT JITTER MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUE



A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL 1990

National Library of Canada

Canadian Theses Service Service des thèses canadiennes

du Canada

Bibliothèque nationale

Ottawa, Canada K1A ON4

The author has granted an irrevocable no.7exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons."

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur . qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-65100-8

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR : V.A. ANAND TITLE OF THESIS : BIT-BY-BIT JITTER MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUE DEGREE : MASTER OF SCIENCE

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: FALL 1990

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

Anong (SIGNED) -

PERMANENT ADDRESS:

10-1-535, New Marredpally,

Secunderabad, Andhra Pradesh,

INDIA - 500026.

Date: June 12, 1990

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled BIT-BY-BIT JITTER MEASUREMENT TECHNIQUE submitted by V.A. ANAND in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE.

Colin G. Englished

Dr. Colin G. Englefield ond

Dr. Paul A. Goud

Dr. R.E. Rink

Dr. Abu Sesay

Date: 4th June 1990

DEDICATED TO

my father and mother

iv

N

ABSTRACT

In this thesis, a new bit-by-bit jitter measurement technique is described. This technique has been used to determine the jitter performance of a self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit.

This jitter measurement scheme provides a time and amplitude quantized histogram estimate for the probability density function of timing jitter. A numerical description of the jitter phenomenon is obtained in terms of the mean and RMS values. It has a measurement precision of the order of 1.7 ps.

An experimental optical fiber transmission system using the NRZ code, with a self-sustaining monostable multivibrator as the timing extraction circuit, was designed and developed. The signalling rate was 50 Mb/s. The signal was transmitted over 5 km of multimode graded index fiber, using a laser diode @ 830 nm and a silicon avalanche photodetector.

The experimental results demonstrate that the measured RMS jitter increases as the number of transitions in the received pattern decreases. It is approximately 2.5° for the "1000 0000 0000 0000" data pattern. The variation of the measured RMS jitter with received optical power indicates that, in the normal operating range, pattern-dependent jitter is the main source of jitter in the recovered clock. The systematic jitter varied between 1.5° to 2° for a 16-bit fixed word pattern, and 2° to 2.5° for PRBS word lengths of 2^{10} -1 and 2^{23} -1, respectively. The overall jitter due to fixed or PRBS data patterns and random noise, lies between 3° and 4° , depending on the optical power level.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks and respect to Dr.Colin G. Englefield and Dr.Paul A. Goud for their advice, support and constant encouragement throughout this project. Special thanks are due to Kumar S. Visvanatha for the receiver, which was designed and developed by him. I am also grateful to the members of the examining committee for reviewing this work.

In addition, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the following:

- Mr. Bert Celder and Mr. Dave Rudyk for their technical help and stimulating discussions.
- Mr.K. H. Teo and Mr.Eric Valk for their competent technical suggestions and helpful discussions.
- Members of the Optical and Microwave Communication Group, viz., Mr.S. VandenBrink, Ms. Zhijing Chen, Mr.Sunit Lohtia, Mr.Blair Cain, Mr.R. Morris, Mr.A. Pande and Ms.Angela Ruan who have helped me in various ways during this project.
- Professor Y.J. Kingma for the use of his computer.
- The Alberta Telecommunications Research Centre for the occasional use of their splicing equipment.
- The National Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada for their support of this research work through NSERC grants.
- The Department of Electrical Engineering for the award of a teaching assistantship.

I would also like to express my appreciation and thanks to my parents, family members and friends for their constant encouragement, patience and support during the course of this project.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER PAGE	
1.	INTRODUCTION
	1.1 Definition of Jitter2
	1.2 The Importance of Timing in Digital Systems4
	1.3 Clock Transmission and Recovery5
	1.4 Line Coding in Optical Fiber Communications
	1.5 An Optical Fiber Communication System14
	1.5.1 Fiber Optic Regenerator17
	1.6 Thesis Objectives and Organization21
	1.6.1 Objectives
	1.6.2 Organization22
2.	TIMING EXTRACTION AND JITTER
	2.1 Sources of Jitter
	2.1.1 Jitter produced by the Electronic Components24
	2.1.2 Jitter produced by the Digital Regenerators24
	2.1.2.1 Systematic (pattern-induced) Jitter24
	2.1.2.2 Random Jitter25
	2.1.3 Jitter produced by the Optical Systems25
	2.1.4 Wander
	2.2 Existence of Timing Signal25
	2.3 Timing Extraction
	2.4 Accumulation of Timing Jitter
	2.5 Effect of Jitter on Transmission Quality

3.	THE SELF-SUSTAINING MONOSTABLE MULTIVIERATOR CLOCK RECOVERY CIRCUIT
	3.1 Circuit Operation
	3.2 Jitter Generated in a Self-Sustaining Monostable Multivibrator Clock Recovery Circuit
	3.3 Modified Monostable Multivibrator Clock Recovery Circuit53
	3.3.1 A New Version of the Modified Monostable Multivibrator Clock Recovery Circuit
4.	THE MEASUREMENT OF JITTER
	4.1 Various Methods for Measuring Jitter
	4.1.1 Oscilloscope61
	4.1.2 Calibrated Baseband Phase Demodulator
	4.1.3 Digital Processing Oscilloscope
	4.1.4 Symbol-by-Symbol Jitter Measurement
	4.2 PWM to PAM Conversion Technique
	4.3 Jitter Measurement Using a Digitizing Oscilloscope
5.	THE EXPERIMENTAL FIBER OPTIC SYSTEM
	5.1 Laser Transmitter
	5.2 Optical Fiber
	5.3 Optical Pre-amplifier95
	5.4 Main Amplifier
	5.5 Clock Recovery Circuit
	5.6 Jitter Measurement System103
6	EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
	6.1 System Operation and Waveforms
	6.1.1 Data Generator
	6.1.2 Optical Receiver110
	6.1.3 Clock Recovery Circuit110
	6.1.4 Jitter Measurement System113

6.2 B	t-by-bit Jitter Measurements127
	6.2.1 RMS Jitter versus Transmitted Data Pattern
	6.2.2 RMS Jitter versus Received Optical Power
7. SUM	ARY AND CONCLUSIONS
REFERE	CES 146

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	PAGE
Table 6.1	System specifications108
Table 6.2	Measured time interval between two successive
	recovered clock pulses when different types of
	input data are applied to the clock recovery
	circuit
Table 6.3	Representation of a transmitted data pattern in
	terms of the number of consecutive zeros

-

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.1	Definition of jitter3
1.2	Eye pattern imperfections for clock recovery
1.3	Different binary line codes12
1.4	Power spectral density of various binary line codes13
1.5	Block diagram of a digital optical fiber communication system
1.6	Block diagram of a self-timed fiber optic regenerator18
2.1	Average power spectrum of the received signal
2.2	Block diagram of the timing extraction circuit using the self-synchronization scheme
2.3	Timing extraction circuit
2.4	Power spectrum of z _p (t)35
2.5	Power spectrum of s _D (t)35
3.1	The self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit
3.2	Timing diagram of the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit for a 10001 input bit sequence
3.3	Relationship between jitter and receiver noise
3.4	Pdf of output jitter when a primary pulse triggers the MM at the ideal time during the previous time slot
3.5	Pdf of output jitter when a feedback pulse triggers the MM at Δ seconds after the ideal time during the previous time slot
3.6	Pdf of the output jitter when the early primary pulses are also inhibited
3.7	Modified monostable clock recovery circuit
3.8	New version of the modified monostable clock recovery circuit
3.9	Timing diagram of the new version of the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit for a 10001 input bit sequence

4.1	Oscilloscope display of Peak-to-Peak jitter62
4.2	Schematic of calibrated phase demodulator64
4.3	Digital processing oscilloscope display64
4.4	Timing diagram of the jitter measurement scheme
4.5	Experimental jitter measurement system
4.6	Frequency divider and phase detector circuit
4.7	Waveforms at the output of the (a) Frequency divider of the reference clock
4.8	Integrate-and-dump filter76
4.9	Dump pulse generator and amplifier
4.10	Waveforms present at (a) the input of the common base amplifier
4.11	Output of the integrate and dump filter at 22.37 MHz81
4.12	Output of the integrate and dump filter at 3 MHz81
4.13	Illustration of the jitter measurement principle
4.14	 Pattern of occurrence of the recovered clock pulse stream88 (a) when transition detector generates pulses on both, the rising and falling edges
5.1	Block diagram of the experimental optical fiber system92
5.2	Schematic diagram of the preamplifier
5.3	Schematic diagram of the clock recovery circuit
5.4	Schematic diagram of the transition detector
5.5	Experimental jitter measurement system
6.1	NRZ data pattern of 1001001001001001 at the output of the data generator109
6.2	Output of the APD detector/pre-amplifier

6.3	Eye diagram at the output of the main amplifier for an NRZ pseudo-random bit sequence of length 2 ²³ -1 for received optical power levels of (a) -35.8 dBm
6.4	Clock recovery circuit waveforms112
6.5	Output of the new version of the original clock recovery circuit
6.6	Pattern of occurrence of the recovered clock as seen on the screen of the digitizing oscilloscope for various data patterns applied to the input of the clock recovery circuit (a) 1010101010101000000000000000000000000
6.7	Histogram estimate for the pdf of the recovered clock timing jitter when various data patterns are applied to the input of the clock recovery circuit (a) 1010101010101010 (b) 1000100010001000 121 (c) 100000010000000 122 (d) 100000000000000 123 (e) PRBS 2 ²³ -1
6.8	(a) Primary pulse (output of the transition detector)
6.9	RMS systematic jitter versus transmitted data pattern130
6.10	Total RMS jitter versus transmitted data pattern
6.11	Electrically recovered clock for an NRZ input of 1000 000 000 000 000, as it appears on the screen of the digitizing oscilloscope134
6.12	Optically recovered clock for an NRZ input of 1000 000 000 000 000, as it appears on the screen of the digitizing oscilloscope
6.13	Measured total RMS jitter against received optical power for a fixed pattern137
6.14	Measured total RMS jitter against received optical power for a pseudo-random bit sequence139

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AGC	Automatic gain control
APD	Avalanche photo diode
BER	Bit error rate
BJT	Bipolar junction transistor
BW	Bandwidth
CCITT	Consultative Committee on International Telephony and
	Telegraphy
DPO	Digital Processing Oscilloscope
DRF	Dielectric Resonator Filter
EX-OR	Exclusive OR gate
FET	Field effect transistor
FWHM	Full width at half maximum
IC	Integrated circuit
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
ISI	Intersymbol interference
LPF	Low pass filter
M-PSK	M-ary phase shift keying
MECL	Motorola emitter coupled logic
MM	Monostable multivibrator
NRZ	Nonreturn-to-zero
PAM	Pulse amplitude modulation
PDF	Probability density function
PLL	Phase-locked loop
PRBS	Pseudo-random binary sequence
PWM	Pulse width modulation

RFRadio frequencyRMSRoot mean squareRZReturn-to-zeroSAWSurface-acoustic waveSNRSignal-to-noise ratioUIUnit interval

•

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Digital transmission has become reasonably well established as the basis for modern telecommunication networks all around the world. Its primary advantage, compared to analog transmission, is that it offers an inherent noise immunity which can provide an end-to-end transmission quai y almost independent of distance; secondary advantages include increased capacity on existing networks, compatibility with digital switching, and simple interfacing with the growing proportion of data traffic from digital sources. The feasibility of such networks is dependent on the attainment of substantially impairment-free operation, irrespective of the traffic carried, with transmission links connected directly together in tandem, or indirectly through digital switches and multiplex equipment [1].

Although the noise immunity of digital systems is high, relatively sharp thresholds exist which, if exceeded, result in a rapid deterioration of system performance. Amplitude noise in digital systems can be controlled by regeneration. Timing noise, usually known as "timing jitter", displaces the transitions between adjacent digits, and is not so easily controlled, because of the practical and economic difficulties of obtaining jitter-free clocks for regeneration at points remote from the original clock source. Timing jitter is especially important because the information content of digital signals is essentially carried by the transitions between digits and a knowledge of the expected digit spacings; timing jitter affects both of these and, like noise, has cumulative properties so that, without adequate control, it can grow to an amplitude such that the jittered clock will sample the data at non-ideal times.

A digital telecommunication system must operate correctly in the presence of jitter and hence the topics of jitter origination, accumulation, and control, are important in any digital system. It is the objective of this project to measure the jitter variance in an optical fiber communication system, to determine its statistical properties and to study how jitter degrades the bit error performance. 1.1 Definition of Jitter

In an ideal digital transmission system, the pulses of the digital pulse stream would arrive at times that are integral multiples of the pulse repetition period T. However, in real systems, pulses arrive at times that differ from the ideal times of integral multiples of T. This unwanted pulse position modulation of the pulse stream is called "Jitter". Jitter is formally defined by the CCITT as short-term variations of the significant instants of a digital signal from their ideal positions in time. Longer-term variations are defined by the The "significant instant" referred to in the CCITT as "wander". definition can be any fixed arbitrary point on a digital signal that is clearly identifiable, such as the leading or trailing edges, or the mid-points of pulses. Figure 1.1a shows a train of unit impulses initially spaced equally in time; after either transmission or signal processing these unit impulses become spaced slightly irregularly in time (Figure 1.1b). The time deviations from integral multiples of T form a discrete time, continuous amplitude sequence e[nT]. This sequence represents the fundamental description of jitter; e[nT] has dimensions of time in amplitude, at integer multiples of T. Throughout this thesis, square brackets denote a discrete time function, while





Fig.1.1 Defining Jitter. Jitter is the effect of the real clock edges varying in time relative to an ideal clock [2].

parentheses denote a continuous time function. The units in which jitter amplitudes are specified and measured are generally in terms of the unit interval (UI), which is equal to one bit period, or in terms of phase, by defining one bit period T as equal to 360° . In digital transmission systems e[nT] is a random function of time called a stochastic process [2].

1.2 The Importance of Timing in Digital Systems

Digital telecommunication systems invariably use serial digit transmission, and the ability to be able to correctly identify each digit at any point in a system is of the utmost importance. The inherent noise immunity of digital signals allows substantially error-free decisions to be made on the magnitudes of individual digits in the presence of significant noise, but this is only possible if the digits are correctly identified in time from the preceding or succeeding digits. When an optical signal is transmitted along an optical fiber, dispersion mechanisms within the fiber cause broadening of the optical pulses as they travel along the channel. This causes distortion in both digital and analog transmission. The amount of broadening depends on the distance that the optical pulses travel along the optical fiber before they are regenerated. The dispersion or broadening of the pulses may occur to such an extent that neighbouring and thus become start to overlap one another, pulses may This effect is known as indistinguishable at the receiver input. Intersymbol Interference (ISI).

In the presence of ISI, the digital symbols have rise and fall times of the order of a symbol period. For no overlapping of light pulses to occur in an optical fiber link, the maximum bit rate B_{T} or

4

transmission bandwidth (for return-to-zero pulses) should be less than the reciprocal of the broadened pulse duration (2τ) , i.e.

$$B_{\perp} \leq 1/2\tau$$
.

ISI may be reduced by equalization, where a filter is used to partially restore the shape of the pulses. Figure 1.2 shows an eye diagram which is open, and where the decision time corresponds to the centre of the eye opening. The effect of ISI and noise is to close the eye pattern. In this case the margin against amplitude noise (or in other words, the SNR) decreases rapidly as the decision time moves away from the nominal centre of the eye. Thus, the presence of timing jitter will cause an average decrease of SNR, and a consequent increase in the BER.

1.3 Clock Transmission and Recovery

In baseband digital systems, the output of the receiver must be sampled at precise sampling instants in order to recover the original signal. To perform this sampling, a clock signal is needed at the receiver that is synchronized with the clock signal at the transmitter. Three general methods by which this synchronization can be obtained are [71]:

a) derivation of clock information from a primary or secondary standard; for example, the transmitter and receiver can be slaved to a master clock through a separate channel.

b) transmitting a synchronizing clock signal over the same channel as the signal.

c) derivation of the clock signal from the received signal waveform itself.

The first method is often apployed in large data communication networks. Due to the high cost of this method, point-to-point data





transmission normally does not use this method. A more economical method is to transmit the clock signal along with the data, which means that a small part of the channel's information capacity is used by the The third method, known as self-synchronized or clock signal. self-timed, is a very efficient method of synchronization between receiver and transmitter. Digital transmission equipment is generally arranged to be self-timed, with timing signals or clocks derived by nonlinear processing of the incoming digital signal. This process is known as timing extraction [3]. This processing yields two The first, consisting of discrete frequency-domain components. spectral lines at the symbol rate and its harmonics, results from the periodic nature of the symbols; the other component, which is continuous and somewhat noise-like, arises from the information content or line coding of the digital signals. The timing clock may be recovered from the symbol rate component by the use of a narrowband bandpass filter, which usually consists of a simple LC "tank" circuit, a surface-acoustic-wave (SAW) device, or a phase-locked loop (PLL).

Practical bandpass filters, having nonzero bandwidths, will pass not only the required spectral line components but also that part of the continuous spectrum adjacent to the spectral line. These unwanted sidebands effectively modulate the recovered clock both in amplitude and phase, the latter appearing directly as *timing jitter*. A useful figure of merit is the ratio between the power contained in the discrete clock spectral line to the power contained in the continuous spectrum that falls within the passband of the clock recovery circuit. In practice, amplitude modulation may also cause additional jitter through the process of amplitude-to-phase conversion. The suppression of this amplitude and phase modulation is determined by the timing recovery filter bandwidths, and is limited by the tuning accuracy and stability of the filters. Mistuning of a filter passband centre frequency relative to the symbol rate gives rise to pattern-sensitive timing jitter in the recovered clock, which can result in large phase transients [4]. The amplitude of the recovered clock is proportional to the timing density or number of transitions per unit time between symbols in the transmission code, and amplitude variations can therefore be limited by the use of a line code having suitable bounds on its timing density. (Line coding in fiber optics is discussed in the next section).

Intersymbol interference resulting from bandwidth restrictions and misequalization in the transmission path also causes jitter through pulse shape variations, and hence spectral variations, at the timing recovery filter input.

Any jitter present on a recovered clock will be imparted to the digital data stream in any associated processing such as regeneration. Jitter within the timing recovery bandwidths of a digital tression system is therefore added to the regenerated signals in a cumulative manner. Unfortunately, the predominant sources of jitter tend to be additive since they are related to modulation components of the digital signals; the accumulation of this jitter is consequently more rapid than that of jitter from noncoherent sources. This is one of the factors which could, if not properly controlled, limit the performance of a digital network.

1.4 Line Coding in Optical Fiber Communications

The function of coding is to adapt a signal source to a

transmission medium for the purpose of efficient and reliable communications. The subject of coding is divided into source coding and channel coding [5]. Source coding is the conversion of the messages produced by a source into a string of binary digits. Channel coding, on the other hand, is the transformation of the binary digits generated by the source into a form suitable for a specific transmission medium. Line coding is a subset of channel coding that normally does not include error correction codes and is mainly concerned with matching the transmitted signal spectrum to the transmission characteristics of the channel, so as to limit impairments such as timing jitter, ISI, baseline wander, etc. [6].

A line code that is attractive for optical fiber communications should possess the following characteristics [7-11]:

a. Frequent transitions.

b. Zero dc and small low frequency content.

c. Two level (binary).

d. Bit sequence independent.

e. Bandwidth efficient.

f. Moderate redundancy.

g. Simple implementation.

A brief discussion of the desirability of some of these requirements is now presented. The line code must have frequent transitions in order that a stable clock signal (with minimum jitter) may be extracted at the receiver, as explained in the earlier section. Furthermore, the longest interval between transitions must be restricted to a small value in order to prevent the clock recovery circuit from falling out of lock with the data source and losing synchronization. Ideally, the line code should provide a transition for every source bit.

The dc component in the signal power density spectrum should be zero and the low frequency components should be small, in order to minimize baseline wander, which is the shifting of the receiver output in the presence of a long string of ones or zeros due to AC coupling in the receiver. Baseline wander is undesirable because it results in a reduction of the signal amplitude at the sampling instant, and hence in a reduced receiver sensitivity.

The optical signal should be binary, due to the unipolar nature of light intensity. Multilevel transmission increases the information capacity of a fiber optic channel, but suffers from the following problems:

a) Due to signal-dependent shot noise, the receiver threshold levels for multilevel systems need to be non-uniformly spaced, which complicates the receiver design.

b) Lasers are non-linear devices, making the generation of multilevel signals more difficult than the generation of binary signals.

A line code is bit sequence independent if the communication link can function properly regardless of what bit stream is emitted by the source. For example, if the message source were to emit all ones, the line code should still provide sufficient transitions so that the system performance would not degrade due to baseline wander or drifting of the clock signal. In general, a line code is bit sequence independent if it contains only a small amount of low frequency energy; i.e., a long string of ones or zeros is not possible.

In high bit rate systems, a careful choice of line code with as little redundancy as possible is required especially when the pulse The required system bandwidth is dispersion is significant [12]. proportional to the amount of redundancy added. As the system bandwidth increases, the noise power at the receiver output increases, Several line codes for fiber and the receiver sensitivity decreases. communications have been proposed previously. These include opti simple 1B2B codes (where one data bit is coded by two line code pulses, see Figure 1.3) such as the Manchester Code [13], Miller Code [8], or Petrovic Code [14] and some other complex block codes such as the 3B-4B, 5B-6B, 7B-8B and 13B-14B codes [12-22]. However, the majority of commercial fiber optic systems developed to date employ the simplicity of (NRZ) format because of its nonreturn-to-zero The NRZ code finds wide application in long haul implementation. systems where it is necessary to minimize the system bandwidth and maximize the receiver sensitivity. Among the two-level codes, the NRZ code requires the least amount of bandwidth and provides the greatest sensitivity for a given data rate. A data scrambler is required because the NRZ code can give rise to a long string of ones or zeros, which may cause base line wander problems at the receiver. As mentioned earlier, this is due to the nonzero power spectral density at dc (ω = 0), of the NRZ code. Also, the NRZ code has the disadvantage that it has no error detection or correction capability. Figure 1.4 shows the power spectral density of various binary line codes [14].

The NRZ type of line coding was used in this thesis, without a data scrambler. The main reason for using this code is as follows: a) Simple to use, as it requires no coder or decoder.



Fig.1.3 Different Binary Line Codes

- a) NRZ
- b) RZ
- c) CMI
- d) Manchester
- e) Petrovic



Fig. 1.4 Power Spectral Density of Various Binary Line Codes [14].

b) Most of the commercial fiber optic systems use the NRZ code.

c) It is interesting to study the timing jitter behaviour of the NRZ code without a data scrambler, since, in this case long sequence of ones or zeros may be present. Thus, the timing jitter should be worse than any of the other binary level codes, which have control over the number of continuous ones or zeros that may occur. Hence, it is worthwhile to study the timing jitter behaviour of the NRZ code, since all other line codes would give better results no matter which method of clock recovery is employed.

1.5 An Optical Fiber Communication System

Figure 1.5 shows the block diagram of a basic digital fiber-optic communitation system. M electrical data signals, with well defined and standardized rate, line code, and pulse shape, arrive at the multiplexing terminal. These M electrical signals are synchronized, the necessary overhead bits are added, and the signals are then interleaved to form a higher rate electrical signal [2]. The electrical multiplexer output signal is clocked by a local timing signal. Therefore, the output pulse stream leaves the multiplexer with negligible jitter with respect to the local multiplexer output clock. However, the primary sources of jitter in digital transmission systems are regenerators and multiplexers. The process of synchronizing and inserting overhead bits onto the tributary signals results in jitter appearing on the tributaries after demultiplexing. In this thesis, we concentrate only on the jitter introduced by the line regenerators.

The high speed electrical signal which is now the source of binary ones and zeros is coded by the encoder. There are many code formats by which the binary data may be coded, the most common being the



Fig. 1.5 Block Diagram of a Digital Optical Fiber Communication System.

nonreturn-to-zero (NRZ coding) which is examined here. The coded electrical data then drives a laser transmitter that generates a light signal whose intensity is proportional to the signal-dependent injection current. The requirements of an optical source for a high bit rate link are a narrow spectral width, a small beam area, a high electrical-to-optical power conversion efficiency, good high frequency resp. se, a long life span and the emission of light at wavelengths that are compatible with the optical fiber characteristics. The transmission channel could be single-mode or multimode fiber, depending on the system requirements.

After transmission through the fiber, the optical signal is converted back to an electrical signal using either a PIN or avalanche The signal after detection is corrupted by two photodiode (APD). sources of noise. These are (a) the photodiode shot noise and (b) the receiver thermal noise. In the case of fiber optic systems using direct detection and PIN photodiodes or APDs with average gains less than twenty, shot noise can be neglected [2]. Also, in most cases, it is the thermal noise of the preamplifier which dominates the total noise of the receiver. Hence, we assume that the overall noise is mainly due to the receiver thermal noise and that shot noise is For this condition the noise will have Gaussian negligible. Once the electrical signal is amplified and reshaped, a statistics. timing signal will be extracted from it and the regenerated electrical data signal will be produced. This regenerated signal can either go to another laser transmitter in the case of a regenerator (a back-to-back receiver-transmitter combination), or, at the end of the system to a demultiplexing termina. At the demultiplexing torminal the higher rate electrical signal is separated into its tributaries, the overhead bits are removed, and the M electrical signals are recovered.

1.5.1 Fiber Optic Regenerator

Digital transmission systems, in particular fiber-optic transmission systems, use line regenerators to send information over longer distances than is possible through a single laser-fiber-receiver span. The line regenerator receives the weak and dispersed incoming optical signal, and attempts to regenerate the original signal as closely as possible, for retransmission by its laser transmitter. When regenerators are cascaded an accumulation of jitter results [2].

Figure 1.6 shows the block diagram of a self-timed fiber optic regenerator. An optical receiver containing a photo-detector converts the optical signal from the incoming optical fiber into an electrical As the output signal from this detector is normally very signal. small, a low noise preamplifier is used, coupled directly to the photo-detector to amplify the signal level with minimum noise penalty. A certain amount of thermal noise is introduced by this preamplifier, and an APD is often preferred to a PIN photodiode, in order to achieve For a transmission channel a higher receiver sensitivity [23]. degraded by white noise, the noise level increases linearly with increasing channel bandwidth. Hence a filter is normally incorporated into the receiver to limit the noise. The optimum bandwidth of the filter depends on the signal bandwidth, and is chosen to maximize the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR).

The main amplifier further amplifies the signal to a voltage level that can trigger the clock recovery and decision circuits. This amplified electrical signal is then passed through an equalizer and an

17



Incoming multimode fiber

Fig. 1.6 Block Diagram of a Self-timed Fiber Optic Regenerator

automatic gain control (AGC) amplifier that produces an output bignal $r_N(t)$. The function of the equalizer is to reduce believersymbols interference (ISI). The signal $r_N(t)$, received by the Nub regenerators in a long chain of cascaded regenerators, is corrupted by receiver noise and jitter accumulated from the previous N-1 regenerators. We express $r_N(t)$ as

$$r_{N}(t) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} a_{n} g_{N}(t-nT-e_{N-1}[nT]) + c_{N}(t) \dots (1.1)$$

where $a_n \in \{0, 1\}$, $g_N(t)$ is the amplified and equalized received pulse, $\eta_N(t)$ is additive receiver noise, and $e_{N-1}[nT]$ is the time deviation from time nT of the Nth pulse's zero crossing. The $e_{N-1}[nT]$ jitter sequence is the accumulated jitter from the previous N-1 regenerators.

The received signal is sampled by the decision circuit and a regenerated output signal is produced, based on decisions made about $r_N(t)$ at the sampling instants. The timing signal used for sampling is derived from 'he timing extraction circuit, which extracts either a sinusoidal waveform or a square wave of frequency 1/T from $r_N(t)$. Since timing extraction is imperfect, the timing signal is given by

$$s_{N}(t) = |A_{N}| \sin\left[\frac{2\pi}{T} (t-e_{N}(t))\right] \qquad \dots \dots (1.2)$$

where $|A_N|$ is a constant amplitude, and $e_N(t)$ is the jitter on the timing signal, which is a continuous time phase modulation of $s_N(t)$; $e_N(t)$ is caused by imperfections of the timing extraction process, the input jitter e_{N-1} [nT], and the receiver noise $\eta_N(t)$.

When $s_N(t)$ rises to a voltage V, $r_N(t)$ is sampled and the decision
circuit creates a regenerated output signal, that in turn modulates a laser transmitter. The regenerated output signal is given by

$$r'_{N}(t) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} a'_{n} f_{N}(t-nT-e_{N}[nT] + \tau + t_{o}) \dots \dots (1.3)$$

where a_n is the regenerated bit sequence, $f_N(t)$ is the output pulse, t_0 and τ are static phase shifts and $e_N[nT]$ is the output jitter of the Nth regenerator, a sampled $e_N(t)$. The term t_O is caused by the non-zero sampling threshold of the decision circuit. A V = 0 sampling threshold eliminates this static phase shift. Hence, DC offsets in the sampling portion of the decision circuit should be minimized. The static phase offset au is caused by the physical separation of the timing and decision circuits. This static phase alignment between the data and the timing signals must be set either by choosing the length of a coaxial cable between the timing and decision circuits or by some electronic phase shifting network so that the data signal is sampled at an optimum time. Therefore, the timing signal jitter is impressed onto the output data signal. Equations (1.1) to (1.3) mathematically describe the signal processing carried out in a line regenerator. We see that jitter is present on both the input and the output signals.

Without adequate control, it is possible for timing jitter to accumulate in digital networks to the extent that it could degrade the overall performance. This could happen in two ways.

a) Jitter can increase the probability of error, by causing the signal sampling time instants to deviate about the eye centre and thus lead to a reduction in the SNR.

b) In the case of a digitally encoded analog signal, jitter in the bit

stream arriving at the decoder finally leads to the decoded analog samples appearing in a slightly irregular manner. This is sometimes known as "absolute jitter" [1,27,30,31].

Digital impairments such as errors are dependent on the difference between the jitter on the received signal to be sampled and the jitter on the extracted clock signal that determines the sampling times. This relative difference is known as "alignment jitter" [29,32].

1.6 Thesis Objectives and Organization

1.6.1 Objectives

The purpose of the research work reported in this thesis is to study the jitter performance of an all-digital, self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit in a fiber optic communication system. Having done this, it was proposed to study experimentally, the performance of a fiber optic transmission system in terms of the bit error rate (BER) in the presence of timing jitter. To keep the project scope within the M.Sc. range, the investigation was limited to the study of only the jitter performance of the monostable clock recovery circuit.

Hence, the main objectives of this thesis are as follows:

1. To develop a bit-by-bit jitter measurement technique to determine the statistics of the jitter phenomenon.

2. To develop a computer program to control the digitizing oscilloscope in order to make the acquisition to and transfer the data on to the computer.

3. To develop a computer program to process the data and determine the mean, variance and probability density function (pdf) of the timing jitter. 4. To design and develop a monostable clock recovery circuit. An experimental optical fiber transmission system operating at 50 Mb/s was then set up.

5. To experimentally measure the RMS jitter as a function of various data patterns, and to study the time dependent nature of the jitter probability density function.

6. To experimentally measure the RMS jitter against received optical power for various data patterns, so as to obtain the relationship between the systematic and random components of the jitter and the signal-to-noise ratio.

1.6.2 Organization

Chapter 1 introduces the topic of jitter, clock recovery and the importance of timing in digital systems. We also present the characteristics that a line code should possess in optical fiber systems, how the NRZ code compares to these characteristics and why we chose to work with this code.

Chapter 2 deals with the theoretical analysis of timing extraction and jitter in self-timed regenerators. It presents the various sources of jitter, a theoretical justification of the existence of a timing signal at the signalling rate and the process of clock extraction. It also introduces the topics of accumulation of jitter in long haul fiber-optic systems with several repeaters, and the performance of an optical communication system in the presence of jitter.

Chapter 3 describes the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit and analyze its clock jitter. A simple modification to the original clock recovery circuit will be proposed. Chapter 4 reviews the various jitter measurement techniques, the method that was tried at first, and the method finally used. The experimental fiber-optic system and the jitter measurement system will be described in chapter 5.

Chapter 6 will present the experimental results that were obtained. It will show that the clock jitter increases as the number of transitions in the received bit sequence decreases. In the normal operating range of the receiver, it is found that the effect of random noise on the jitter is quite small, and that pattern-dependent jitter is dominant. The random jitter is dominant only at very low optical power levels. Chapter 7 presents a summary of the results, together with the conclusions. Suggestions for further research in this area are also given.

CHAPTER 2 TIMING EXTRACTION AND JITTER

this chapter the various sources of jitter are discussed. The structure of the received signal will be explored to show that it contains timing information which can be used to reconstruct the clock signal. A mathematical analysis of a clock recovery circuit using an Exclusive-OR gate as a non-linear element is presented to show that it generates a discrete spectral line at the symbol frequency. Finally, the accumulation of jitter in a long haul system with several repeaters and the effect of jitter on the performance of a communication system are presented.

2.1 Sources of Jitter

Jitter can arise from a variety of sources in digital transmission systems and networks. The majority of sources fall into one of the following categories [24].

2.1.1 Jitter produced by the Electronic Components

Two mechanisms account for the presence of jitter on timing signals originating from oscillators. The first is the intrinsic phase noise generated by components, called *flicker noise*, and the second is the *phase noise* in logic circuits arising as a result of signal transition uncertainties. Both of these are dominated by low frequency components. This jitter is usually negligible compared to other mechanisms.

2.1.2 Jitter produced by the Digital Regenerators

2.1.2.1 Systematic (pattern-induced) Jitter

Most of the significant sources of jitter produced by digital regenerators are strongly dependent on the pattern content of the digital signal being transmitted [25-29]. The continually changing patterns of the digital signals produce spectral components which fall within the passband of the timing recovery filter, and hence cause variations in the time of occurrence of the recovered clock. These effects are augmented by other repeater imperfections such as intersymbol interference, pulsewidth effects and amplitude-to-phase conversion as described earlier. Values for systematic jitter for a single regenerator typically fall in the range of 0.4 to 1.5% of a unit interval r.m.s., for all data rates [30].

2.1.2.2 Random Jitter

Random sources of jitter in regenerative repeaters include differential pulse delay in the output stages of repeaters for multilevel transmission codes, non-systematic mistuning of the timing recovery filter resulting from incorrect initial adjustment and aging, temperature and other environmental effects, noise, interference and crosstalk.

2.1.3 Jitter produced by the Optical Systems

Optical transmission systems produce an additional timing jitter contribution from sources such as laser control circuits, optical receiver noise, mode hopping, and dispersion [1].

2.1.4 Wander

Variations in the propagation delays of cables resulting from temperature changes can cause an apparent phase change of several tens of bit periods over a long period of time. Such variations occur very slowly and are considered as *wander*.

2.2 Existence of Timing Signal

For complete regeneration, a local source of timing information is

required at each regenerator. The preferred means of providing this is by extraction of the timing information from the received signal. By performing a spectral analysis of the received signal we can show that it contains a discrete component at the pulse repetition frequency. The spectral characteristics of a stochastic signal are obtained by computing the Fourier transform of the autocorrelation function [33].

Consider a noiseless, jitterless received signal $r_N(t)$ given by Equation (1.1). We assume that the sequence $a_n \in \{0,1\}$ is statistically independent and equiprobable. The mean of $r_N(t)$ is

$$E\left\{r_{N}(t)\right\} = E\left\{a_{N}\right\} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} g_{N}(t-nT) \qquad \dots (2.1)$$

and its autocorrelation is

 $R_{rr}(t,t+\tau) = E\left\{r_{N}(t)r_{N}^{*}(t+\tau)\right\} , \text{ where } r_{N}^{*}(t) \text{ is the complex conjugate} \\ of r_{N}(t).$

$$= \mathop{\mathrm{E}}_{\mathrm{E}} \left\{ \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} a_{n} g_{N}(t-nT) \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} a_{k} g_{N}(t-kT+\tau) \right\} \qquad \dots (2.2)$$

$$= E\left\{\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty}a_{n}a_{n+m}g_{N}(t-nT)g_{N}(t-nT-mT+\tau)\right\} \dots (2.3)$$
where k=n+m

$$= \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} E\left\{a_n a_{n+m}\right\} g_N(t-nT) g_N(t-nT-mT+\tau) \qquad \dots (2.4)$$

It is seen that both the mean and the autocorrelation of $r_N(t)$ are

periodic with T. A stochastic process with a periodic mean and autocorrelation is referred to as cyclostationary [27]. Because $r_N(t)$ is cyclostationary with period T, a timing signal with period T can be extracted from it [34].

The time dependence of $R_{rr}(t,t+\tau)$ can be eliminated by averaging over the period T. This results in an average autocorrelation

$$\bar{R}_{rr}(\tau) = \frac{1}{T} \int_{-T/2}^{T/2} R_{rr}(t, t+\tau) dt \qquad \dots (2.5)$$
$$= \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} E\{a_n a_{n+m}\} \frac{1}{T} \int_{-T/2-nT}^{T/2-nT} g_N(t) g_N(t-mT+\tau) dt \qquad \dots (2.6)$$

Since a_n is wide-sense stationary, $E\left\{a_n a_{n+m}\right\}$ does not depend on n;

therefore
$$\tilde{R}_{rr}(\tau) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} E\left\{a_n a_{n+m}\right\} \frac{1}{T} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g_N(t) g_N(t-mT+\tau) dt \dots (2.7)$$

By defining $R_{gg}(\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} g_N(t) g_N(t+\tau) dt$ and $R_{aa}[m] = E\left\{a_n a_{n+m}\right\}$
 $\dots (2.8)$

and substituting in equation (2.7), we have

$$\bar{R}_{rr}(\tau) = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} R_{aa}[m] R_{gg}(\tau-mT)$$

$$= \frac{1}{T} \operatorname{R}_{gg}(\tau) * \sum_{m = -\infty}^{\infty} \operatorname{R}_{aa}[m] \delta(\tau - mT) \qquad \dots (2.9)$$

Fourier transforming (2.9) yields the average power spectrum of $r_N(t)$

as
$$\bar{S}_{rr}(f) = \frac{1}{\bar{T}} |G_N(f)|^2 S_{aa}(f)$$
 ...(2.10)

where $G_N(f)$ is the Fourier transform of $g_N(t)$, and $S_{aa}(f)$ is the power spectrum of the message sequence $\{a_n\}$ defined as

$$S_{aa}(f) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} R_{aa}[m] e^{-j2\pi fmT}$$
 ...(2.11)

Equation (2.10) shows that the average power spectrum of $r_{N}(t)$ is dependent on the pulse shape and the statistics of the message sequence. The effect of message sequence statistics will be examined first for two cases.

CASE I: If the message sequence, $\{a_n\} \in \{0,1\}$ is independent and equiprobable, then from equation (2.8), the autocorrelation of a_n is $R_{aa}[m] = 1/4 \delta[m] + 1/4$ and

$$S_{aa}(f) = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{4T} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \delta \left[f - \frac{m}{T} \right] \dots (2.12)$$

Substituting (2.12) in (2.10) yields an average power spectrum of the received signal $r_N(t)$ of

$$\bar{S}_{rr}(f) = \frac{1}{4T} \left| G_{N}(f) \right|^{2} + \frac{1}{4T^{2}} \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left| G_{N}\left(\frac{m}{T} \right) \right|^{2} \delta\left[f - \frac{m}{T} \right] \qquad \dots (2.13)$$

Therefore, for an independent message sequence, $\bar{S}_{rr}(f)$ has a continuous spectrum of just the pulse shape magnitude squared plus discrete components at f = m/T.

CASE II: If the message sequence has some periodicity, such as a bit sequence produced by a shift register pattern generator, $R_{aa}[m]$ will be periodic, with period v bits [94]. The autocorrelation of a_n then becomes, from equation (2.8),

$$R_{aa}[m] = 1/4 (1+1/\upsilon) \delta[m] + 1/4 (1-1/\upsilon) \dots (2.14)$$

for m = 0 to v and $R_{aa}[m+kv] = R_{aa}[m]$, for all integer values of k. Inserting (2.14) into (2.11) yields

$$S_{aa}(f) = \frac{1}{4} (1+1/\nu) \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \delta \left[f - \frac{k}{\nu T} \right] + \frac{1}{4T} (1-1/\nu) \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \delta \left[f - \frac{m}{T} \right] \qquad \dots (2.15)$$

Substituting (2.15) into (2.10) yields an average power spectrum of the received signal $r_N(t)$ of

$$\bar{S}_{\Gamma\Gamma}(f) = \frac{1}{4T} (1+1/\nu) \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} \left| G_N\left(\frac{k}{\nu T}\right) \right|^2 \delta\left[f - \frac{k}{\nu T} \right] + \frac{1}{4T^2} (1-1/\nu) \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} \left| G_N\left(\frac{m}{T}\right) \right|^2 \delta\left[f - \frac{m}{T} \right] \dots (2.16)$$

Therefore, for a periodic shift register pattern, $\bar{S}_{rr}(f)$ has a discrete spectrum with impulses at $f_k = k/\upsilon T$. The magnitudes of the impulses are shaped by the pulse shape magnitude squared.

In the limit as v tends to infinity equation (2.16) reduces to (2.13). In other words, the spectrum of a periodic message sequence consists of impulses spaced 1/vT Hz apart and as v tends to infinity this portion of the power spectrum becomes a continuum. Cases I and II illustrate the effect of the message statistics on the received signal's power spectrum.

To limit the intersymbol interference, and therefore the probability of error, a raised cosine pulse shape from the Nyquist family is chosen, having a transform

$$G_{N}(f) = T/2 \left[1 - \sin \pi T \left(f - 1/2T\right)\right] \qquad 0 < f < 1/T$$

Figure 2.1 shows the plot of equation (2.10) using the above $G_N(f)$ for an independent message signal (2.13) and for a periodic message signal (2.16). We see that for both cases, there is no power at the bit repetition frequency 1/T, although we know that a timing signal exists since $r_N(t)$ is cyclostationary with period T. To extract a timing signal, the received signal should be subjected to some nonlinear operation, as explained in the next section.

2.3 Timing Extraction

The received pulse trains cannot be used directly as timing signals, since they still do not contain pulses in every time slot and further operations are needed to generate a repetitive train of clock pulses. The received data signal is first applied to a non-linear circuit and then to a clock recovery circuit. The output of the clock recovery circuit is used to sample the receive: signal. The block diagram of such a self synchronization scheme is shown in Figure 2.2.

The non-linear element generates a discrete tone at the symbol rate frequency [3]. If a spectral line already exists in the line code, e.g. RZ, CMI or Manchester codes, then the non-linear element is omitted. The non-linear element essentially converts the negative transitions in the input signal into positive ones, thus producing a signal that has positive transitions at integral multiples of the bit period T, which will give rise to a discrete spectral component at the desired bit rate of 1/T. The non-linear function may be implemented by various techniques, such as a delay-and-multiply bit synchronizer [35], a full-wave rectifier [27], a squarer [36,37], a threshold crossing





(b) Periodic Message Sequence



Full wave rectifier, Squarer, EX-OR gate with delay, Delay-and-multiply bit synchronizer Bandpass filter, PLL, SAW device, Dielectric resonant filter (DRF)

Fig.2.2 Block Diagram of the Timing Extraction Circuit Using the Self-synchronization Scheme



Fig.2.3 Timing Extraction Circuit [40]

circuit [38], a fourth-power circuit [39], or an Exclusive-OR circuit [40-44].

The clock recovery circuit is generally an LC bandpass filter, a phase-locked-loop (PLL) [45], a high-Q surface-acoustic-wave (SAW) filter [37], or a dielectric resonant filter (DRF) [35,46] tuned to the pulse repetition frequency. It has been reported that a high gain, second-order PLL is superior to an LC filter for timing extraction [45,47]. A PLL is advantageous because it has a constant output amplitude, whereas the output of a bandpass filter is a function of its input bit sequence. In the absence of pulses at the input, the output will decay exponentially at a rate that is inversely proportional to the Q of the filter [5]. Also, in a PLL, the static phase error and noise bandwidth can both be made small at the same time. In a bandpass filter, a small static phase error is possible only if the noise bandwidth is increased, i.e. its Q is decreased [48]. The SAW filter has the advantage of high Q but also has a high insertion loss. The dielectric resonator filter (DRF) has been used at extremely high data rates both, since the PLL and a SAW filter are difficult to implement at very high frequencies [46].

In this thesis, an Exclusive-OR gate was used as the non-linear element in order to generate a discrete spectral line at the signalling rate. The timing extraction circuit is shown in Figure 2.3. As shown in this figure, the received baseband signal z(t) is converted to a binary data stream using the hard-limiter [40,49,50]. The binary data stream $z_p(t)$ resembles an NRZ signal. The spectrum of $z_p(t)$ does not contain any discrete spectral lines. To obtain a modified return-to-zero (RZ) signal which does contain a discrete spectral component at the signalling frequency 1/T, the signal $z_{D}(t)$ and its delayed version $z_{D}(t-d)$ (where 0 < d < T) are passed through an Exclusive-OR gate. The clock is then extracted by employing a narrow bandpass filter centered at the signalling frequency.

The random signal $z_{p}(t)$ is represented as

$$z_{\rm p}(t) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} z_{\rm n} \cdot g(t-nT)$$
 ... (2.17)

where $z_n = a$, or 0 with probability 1/2 and

$$g(t-nT) = \begin{cases} 1, & nT < t \le (n+1)T \\ 0, & elsewhere. \end{cases}$$

The power spectrum $S_{z_{D}}(f)$ of equation (2.17) is given by [91] as

$$S_{z_{D}}(f) = (a^{2}/4) . T . sinc^{2} (\pi fT) ... (2.18)$$

which is shown in Fig. 2.4. As can be noted from Fig. 2.4, there are no discrete spectral lines at the symbol rate frequency which can be extracted for synchronization purposes.

The output of the Exclusive-OR gate $s_n(t)$ is

$$s_{D}(t) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} s(t-nT) \qquad \dots (2.19)$$

$$(t, T) = \begin{pmatrix} h_{1}(t-nT) & \text{with probability } 1/2 \end{pmatrix}$$

1/2

where

$$h_{2}(t-nT) = \begin{cases} h_{2}(t-nT) = 0 & \text{with probability} \end{cases}$$
$$h_{1}(t-nT) = \begin{cases} a, nT < t \le (nT + d) \\ 0, (nT + d) < t \le (n + 1)T \end{cases}$$

and

The power spectral density of $s_n(t)$ is given by [91]

$$S_{sD}(f) = (1/2T) |H_{1}(f) - H_{2}(f)|^{2} + (1/4 T^{2}) |H_{1}(0) + H_{2}(0)|^{2} \delta(f) + (1/2T^{2}) \cdot \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} |H_{1}(m/T) + H_{2}(m/T)|^{2} \delta(f - m/T) \dots (2.20)$$



Fig.2.4 Power Spectrum of $z_{D}(t)$ [40]



Fig.2.5 Power Spectrum of s_D(t) [40]

where

$$H_{1}(f) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} h_{1}(t) e^{-j2\pi f t} dt$$

$$= ad \operatorname{sinc}(\pi f d) e^{-j\pi f d} \qquad \dots (2.21a)$$
and

$$H_{2}(f) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} h_{2}(t) e^{-j2\pi f t} dt = 0 \qquad \dots (2.21b)$$

а

$$H_2(f) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} h_2(t) e^{-j2\pi ft} dt = 0 \dots (2.21b)$$

Substituting (2.21a), (2.21b) into (2.20), the power spectral density at the output of the Exclusive-OR gate becomes

$$S_{sD}(f) = (2a^{2} d^{2}/T) \operatorname{sinc}^{2} (\pi fd) + (a^{2} d^{2}/T^{2})$$
$$\cdot \left[\delta(f) + 2 \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{sinc}^{2} \left(\frac{m\pi d}{T} \right) \cdot \delta(f - m/T) \right] \dots (2.22)$$

and is shown in Fig. 2.5.

A delay d = T/2 yields the maximum power of the discrete spectral line at the symbol rate frequency [38,40,49]. However, this does not guarantee the optimum performance. The best performance is determined by the ratio of the discrete to residual continuous spectral power. since it is this ratio which determines the amount of jitter on the The discussion which follows proves that this power recovered clock. ratio is equal to the quality factor Q of the narrow band filter, centered at the signalling frequency.

From equation (2.22) the power contained in the discrete spectral line at 1/T is given by

> $D(1/T) = (2 a^2 d^2 / T^2) . sinc^2(\pi d / T)$... (2.23)

The residual power contained in the continuous part of $S_{sD}(f)$, which falls within the bandwidth of the narrow band filter contributes to the timing jitter. Assuming that the filter has a very narrow bandwidth, so that the continuous spectrum is flat within the bandwidth, the power contained in the continuous part is given by (from equation (2.22))

$$C(1/T) = BW . (2 a^2 d^2 / T) . sinc^2(\pi d/T) ...(2.24)$$

The signal-to-noise ratio in the bandwidth BW is then given by

$$(SNR)_{PU} = D(1/T) / C(1/T) = 1/ (BW.T) = Q ... (2.25)$$

Thus, it is the quality factor Q of the filter which determines the output jitter rather than the delay time d of the non-linear element.

2.4 Accumulation of Timing Jitter

Timing jitter will arise from several sources in digital line links consisting of self-timed regenerator sections connected in tandem. Random sources of jitter such as noise and crosstalk will, in general, be present in each regenerator section but will be uncorrelated. Thus, the resulting jitter falling within the bandwidth enerator timing recovery circuits will accumulate on a power of the basis. The predominant source of jitter in each regenerator section is usually the pulse pattern sensitivity of the regenerator timing recovery circuits; jitter from sources of this type, known as pattern induced or systematic jitter, will occur in phase in each regenerator section or in otherwords will be correlated, because the same pulse pattern passes through all the regenerators. These cumulative components will add on an amplitude basis [54].

Since noise-dependent jitter is uncorrelated with that generated by the other regenerators in the chain, this jitter will accumulate randomly. The pattern-dependent jitter will accumulate systematically since it is correlated with the jitter generated by the other regenerators in the chain. The random jitter generated in each regenerator is assumed as a zero-mean, white stochastic process. For a chain of N cascaded nonidentical regenerators the **rms** value of the accumulated random jitter at the end of the chain is [2]

$$\sigma_{\rm R}[{\rm N}] = \int_{-1/T}^{1/T} \phi_{\rm N}^{\rm R}({\rm f}) \, {\rm d}{\rm f} \qquad \dots (2.26)$$

where $\phi_N^R(f)$ is the random jitter power spectral density at the end of the chain for |f| < 1/T.

Assuming that the systematic jitter generated at each regenerator is a zero-mean, white stochastic process, the **rms** values of the accumulated systematic jitter at the end of a chain of **N** cascaded nonidentical regenerators is [2]

$$\sigma_{s}[N] = \int_{-1/T}^{1/T} \phi_{N}^{s}(f) df$$
 ... (2.27)

where $\phi_N^s(f)$ is the systematic jitter power spectral density at the end of the chain for |f| < 1/T.

Since random and systematic jitter are uncorrelated, the total jitter power spectrum $\phi_{N}(f)$, and the total rms jitter $\sigma[N]$, at the cutput of the Nth cascaded regenerator, are

$$\phi_{N}(f) = \phi_{N}^{R}(f) + \phi_{N}^{S}(f) \qquad \dots (2.28)$$

and

$$\sigma[N] = \int \sigma_{R}^{2}[N] + \sigma_{S}^{2}[N] \qquad \dots (2.29)$$

In particular, in repeatered digital line transmission systems with identical repeaters, random jitter accumulates with an amplitude proportional to the fourth-root of the number of repeaters and systematic jitter accumulate of with an amplitude proportional to the square-root of the number of repeaters [28, 29, 54].

The current trend towards higher-capacity optical links has placed increased emphasis on system verification with respect to jitter accumulation prior to installation. Jitter accumulation is particularly important on trans oceanic routes which contain many repeaters. A number of jitter accumulation measurement experiments have been reported which feature either cascaded electrical or looped optical regenerators [51-62].

2.5 Effect of Jitter on Transmission Quality

the performance of an optical communication system depends critically on the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of the transmitted signal at the receiver. Timing jitter causes the decision point, nominally set at the bit centre, to fluctuate around its mean value. This variation of the sampling time can lead to performance degradation if the jitter occurs over a significant fraction of the bit period.

A correct bit decision is not dependent on the magnitude of the input nor the output jitter but the difference between the two (i.e. the alignment jitter). Added to this, a correct bit decision depends on several other factors such as the shot noise, thermal (circuit) noise, laser noise, received pulse shape, the decision threshold, the bit sequence before and after the present bit decision and the static phase offset. As a result there is a power penalty, associated with time jitter.

The origin of power penalty due to time jitter is as follows. Because of decision-time fluctuations, different portions of the received waveform are sampled from bit to bit. Resulting signal fluctuations generate additional noise and degrade the SNR. To maintain the same SNR, the average received power should be increased. The relative increase in the received power is referred to as the *power penalty*. The power penalty depends on the received waveform being sampled by the decision circuit. The received waveform in turn depends on the transmitter through relaxation oscillations, frequency chirping etc., the dispersion of the fiber, and on the receiver through the equalizer, filter etc. [63].

As the probability of making a correct bit decision depends on the decision threshold, DC offsets in the sampling portion of the decision circuit should be minimized. Ideally, a sampling threshold of V=O is selected. A static phase offset is caused by the physical separation of the timing and decision circuits. This static phase alignment between the data and the timing signals is set by choosing the length of a coaxial cable between the timing and decision circuits such that the data signal is sampled at an optimum time.

It is reported that [2], with no alignment jitter, the effect of optimum static phase on transmission performance is small. A power penalty of less than 0.5 dB occurs for static phase offsets as large as 34° (bit period T=360°) from the optimum with zero alignment jitter. However when alignment jitter is present, static phase offset becomes The regenerator becomes less tolerant of accumulated important. alignment jitter when static phase offset is present. Thus, the static phase offset must be minimized in order to minimize the effect accumulated alignment jitter has on the probability of error P. The performance degradation of optical communication systems due to jitter could be evaluated by assuming different probability distributions for It is reported, that depending on the the alignment jitter. approximation, we may either under- or over- estimate the performance degradation by a significant amount [64]. Sinusoidal alignment jitter results in power penalties that are about one dR larger than those caused by truncated Gaussian distribution [2]. Timing jitter also affects the system performance by degradation of the measured receiver sensitivity. It lowers the optical gain of the avalanche photodiodes and will reduce the improvement in receiver sensitivity of using avalanche photodiodes over PIN detectors [65].

The performance of a heterodyne M-PSK coherent optical fiber communication system has been investigated with respect to the time jitter [66]. The extent of degradation due to time jitter was almost the same for all values of M, for a fixed jitter variance. The power penalties show a sharp rise above a certain threshold value of time jitter, irrespective of the value of M. The time jitter thus does not affect the choice of the order of the system. The performance of a digital communication system is usually shown by the curves of bit error rate (BER) versus SNR with constant values of jitter variance as a parameter [67,68]. However, in any real practical system, the variance consists of a relatively small constant component (σ_c^2) and a component which is inversely proportional to the SNR (σ_n^2). Hence the curves of BER versus SNR with variance ($\sigma^2 = \sigma_c^2 + \sigma_n^2$) as a parameter are more realistic [69].

In the next chapter we discuss in detail, the operation of the self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit which has been used in this thesis.

CHAPTER 3

THE SELF-SUSTAINING MONOSTABLE MULTIVIERATOR CLOCK RECOVERY CIRCUIT

A novel clock recovery circuit using a self-sustaining monostable multivibrator, shown in Figure 3.1, was reported by Witte and Moustakas [70]. This timing extraction device is very attractive because it is simple to implement, inexpensive and, since it is digital, can be constructed using logic gate array technology. Furthermore, this clock recovery circuit is not restricted to the NRZ code with a scrambler (the application reported in [70]), it can also be used with any other line code that has a reasonable restriction placed on the number of consecutive ones and zeros allowed; e.g., simple 1B-2B codes, such as the Petrovic [14], CMI, DMI and Miller. The original paper on this clock recovery circuit concentrates on the circuit operation and gives an equation for determining the maximum number of consecutive ones or zeros allowed in the input signal for proper operation. It also gives experimental verification of the circuit operation for a 16 Mb/s fiber optic local area network employing NRZ signalling with a scrambler. However, the original clock recovery circuit does not adequately suppress the jitter in the incoming data stream, resulting in an increased BER at low values of signal-to-noise ratio. Subsequently, a modified clock recovery circuit, which significantly reduces the jitter present in the output signal, was proposed and implemented in an experimental fiber optic system using the Petrovic code [5].

In this project, the high frequency jitter performance of the self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit is examined more rigorously on a bit-by-bit basis. It has been implemented in an experimental fiber optic system employing NRZ



Fig.3.1 The Self-Sustaining Monostable Multivibrator Clock Recovery Circuit [70]

signalling without a data scrambler.

3.1 Circuit Operation

A timing diagram of the self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit is shown in Figure 3.2 (from [70]). For the sake of simplicity, it is assumed here that the propagation delay of all the gates and of the monostable multivibrator (MM) is zero between their respective inputs and outputs. In order to understand the operation of the circuit, consider the circuit response, after being turned on, to the input bit sequence 10001, waveform S1 in Figure 3.2. (S1 is obtained directly from the receiver output). The transition detector generates a pulse on every rising and falling edge of the input signal, as shown by S2 in Figure 3.2. (Referring to Figure 2.2 in Section 2.3, the transition detector constitutes the non-linear element which is required to generate the clock spectral line). The width of these pulses is equal to the delay T_P and is not a critical design parameter [40], as long as it is of sufficient duration to In Figure 3.2, Tp is arbitrarily chosen to be T/5, trigger the MM. where T is the bit interval. A monostable multivibrator with a feedback path around it follows the transition detector. The MM produces a pulse on every rising edge of its input (S4). It can be triggered by the pulses generated by the transition detector, here referred to as the primary pulses, or by the feedback pulses (S5 in Figure 3.2). The feedback delay T1 is chosen to be slightly greater than T; i.e., T1= T + Δ , where Δ is a small positive quantity. Thus, the feedback pulse triggers the MM only when the primary pulse is In practice, Δ is chosen to be as small as missing (or late). possible. The third and fourth bit interval of the input signal shown



Fig.3.2 Timing Diagram of the Self-Sustaining Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit for a 10001 Input Bit Sequence

in Figure 3.2 do not contain transitions. Hence, the transition detector does not produce a pulse during these intervals. In this situation, the feedback pulse triggers the MM to produce the clock pulse Δ seconds after the ideal time for the third bit interval and 2Δ seconds after the ideal time for the fourth bit interval. In the fifth bit interval, a transition from a 0 to 1 occurs in the input bit stream and hence a primary pulse triggers the MM at the ideal time. Thus, we see that, when a long sequence of zeros or ones occur in the input, the clock signal advances in time by Δ seconds during each bit interval until a transition occurs. This is a simplified description of the circuit operation and is valid only when the signal jitter is negligible; the effect of jitter while be considered in the next section.

The feedback delay must not be less than the bit interval T. If this is not so, the positive edges of S4 will not coincide with the input bit transitions. As a result, the clock will drift out of phase (oscillates at a frequency of 1/T1) and synchronization will never be attained. The maximum number of consecutive ones or zeros that can occur in the input with synchronization still being maintained is determined by how small Δ can be made; i.e., how closely T1 approximates T, but with the restriction T1 > T. This minimum depends on the variation of propagation delays of the logic gates and the delay network with temperature.

In addition, the recovery time of the MM, Tr, affects the maximum interval between transitions by limiting the maximum possible phase shift. The recovery time of the MM is defined as the time required by the MM, after its output has returned to the stable state, before it can be triggered again. The maximum possible phase shift that is allowed is $T-T_m-T_r$, where T_m is the MM output pulse width. Thus, the maximum number of consecutive ones or zeros allowed in the input bit stream, N, is [70]:

$$N = 1 + (T - T_m - T_r) / \Delta \qquad ... (3.1)$$

The "1" in the above equation accounts for the fact that the first bit in the input has already been received before the MM output begins to drift out of phase. From this equation, we see that, for high bit rate operation (i.e., small values of T), Tm and Tr should be made as small as possible. Also, notice that, for fixed values of T, Tm and Tr, the value of Δ increases as the number of consecutive ones or zeros in the logut signal, N, decreases. It is advantageous to make N small, since it is easier to construct a delay network that provides a delay of T+ Δ seconds for large values of Δ than for small values of Δ . Thus, implementation of this clock recovery circuit is easier for line codes that have a reasonable restriction placed on the number of consecutive ones or zeros which may occur. In this project, although we used an NRZ code without a data scrambler, the number of consecutive ones or zeros which may occur could be preset on the data generator.

3.2 Jitter Generated in a Self-Sustaining Monostable Multivibrator Clock Recovery Circuit

In the ideal case with zero input jitter, the pulses generated by the transition detector, referred to as primary pulses, trigger the MM at integral multiples of the bit interval T. In practice, the arrival times of the primary pulses will fluctuate or *jitter* around the ideal arrival times nT. The jitter in the threshold crossings of the primary pulses is assumed to have a zero-mean Gaussian probability density function (pdf) with a variance σ_1^2 . Regenerators in digital systems generally experience a Gaussian jitter distribution at their input [2,72]. Figure 3.3 shows how the bit transition jitter is generated due to the effect of the noise. Ideally, the received signal will cause the gate to trigger at exact multiples of T seconds (= bit period). However, due to the noise contained in the input signal, the threshold crossings will deviate from the ideal times. Ideally it should cross at t_o , but due to noise it actually crosses at t_1 . The difference $t_o - t_1$ is the bit transition jitter $j_i(t)$ which is present at the input of the clock recovery circuit. Following [41] we have,

$$j_i(t) = n(t)/$$
 Slope of the signal

$$= (1 n(t) / A) \dots (3.2)$$

where t_r = rise time of the input signal

n(t) = receiver noise characteristic

A = amplitude of the logic gate output in the high state Thus, the jitter is a function of the receiver noise characteristics and is directly proportional to the rise time t_r of the input signal. In addition, the jitter variance depends on the channel and receiver bandwidth, received optical pulse shape, type of line coding used, received optical power, comparator threshold level etc.

Let us next determine the output jitter pdf of the self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit for a Gaussian input jitter pdf. For the sake of clarity, it is assumed that the delay of the gates and of the MM can be neglected. Assume that initially a primary pulse triggers the MM at the ideal time (i.e. $j_i(t) = 0$), causing the delayed output pulse to arrive at the OR gate of Figure 3.1 T+ Δ seconds later. If the input jitter $j_i(t) < \Delta$, then the primary



Fig. 3.3 Relationship Between Jitter, j(t), and Receiver Noise, n(t), when the Received Signal is first applied to a Logic Gate [5]

49

pulse will trigger the MM because it reaches the OR gate before the delayed output pulse. In this case, the output pulse will occur $j_i(t)$ seconds away from the ideal time and hence the output jitter $j_o(t)$ will be equal to $j_i(t)$. On the other hand, if $j_i(t) > \Delta$, then the delayed output pulse will trigger the MM and $j_o(t)$ will be equal to Δ , irrespective of the value of $j_i(t)$. Note that the feedback loop has prevented any primary pulse arriving Δ seconds or more after the ideal time from triggering the MM. The output jitter pdf for this case is shown in Figure 3.4. An impulse exists at t= Δ to ensure that the area under the Probability distribution function (PDF) is equal to unity [73]. The ratio of the input jitter variance to the output jitter variance, σ_0^2 / σ_1^2 , for $\Delta = \sigma_i / 10$ is equal to 0.505 [74].

Although the input jitter has a zero mean, the output jitter pdf will have a non-zero mean. As the value of Δ increases, the output jitter increases and hence the value of the ratio σ_0^2/σ_1^2 increases. The output jitter pdf is not time independent. When primary pulses are missing or late, the MM is triggered by the feedback signal. In such a case the pdf extents to the right by Δ seconds for each missing primary pulse. For example, if a primary pulse is missing and the delayed output pulse triggers the MM Δ seconds after the ideal arrival time, then the output jitter pdf for the next bit interval will be as shown in Figure 3.5. Thus an exact average for σ_0^2 / σ_1^2 will be difficult to evaluate. However, if $\Delta \ll \sigma_i$, it can be seen intuitively that the average value of σ_0^2 / σ_1^2 will be approximately equal to 0.5 [74]. The value of Δ cannot be less than zero, otherwise the MM clock recovery circuit will self-oscillate at a frequency of $1/T+\Delta$ Hz [5]. The smallest value of Δ is limited, in practice, by the tolerance on









the incoming signal bit-rate, and possible variations in the time delays associated with the MM circuit.

3.3 Modified Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit

Recently, a modified MM clock recovery circuit was proposed by Visvanatha [74], in order to reduce the output jitter in the recovered A substantial reduction in the output jitter variance will clock. occur if early primary pulses were inhibited from triggering the MM as well as the late arriving ones. If all the primary pulses that arrive earlier than Δ' seconds before the ideal time are made to trigger the MM only Δ^{\prime} seconds early and the late pulses are inhibited as before, then the output jitter PDF will take the form shown in Figure 3.6 (for the case when a primary pulse triggers the MM in the previous time slot with $j_i(t) = 0$. If $\Delta' = \Delta = \sigma_i / 10$, then $\sigma_0^2 / \sigma_i^2 = 0.01027$, which is approximately 50 times less than when the early primary pulses are not inhibited [74]. Here too, it was observed that when Δ' was less than 0.1 ± 0.01ns, the modified clock recovery circuit lost synchronization with the transmitter clock [5]. Thus we note that there exists a minimum width of the window ($\Delta - \Delta'$) for proper operation of the clock recovery circuit.

Primary pulses that arrive too early can be prevented from triggering the MM by simply gating the transition detector output with a delayed version of the output recovered clock, as shown in Figure 3.7. The outer feedback path pulls the AND gate low until Δ' seconds before the ideal time. The inverter in the feedback path is essential; otherwise the primary pulses will never be able to trigger the MM, since the output of the MM would initially be in the low state. The delay $T_2 = T - T_q - \Delta'$, where T_q is equal to the MM output pulse width.







Fig.3.7 Modified Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit [5]
3.3.1 A New Version of the Modified MM Clock Recovery Circuit

It was observed during the course of this project that, due to the finite slope and unequal rise times and fall times of the received signal, the pulses generated at the output of the transition detector (EX-OR gate) due to the rising and falling edges of the input signal, were not separated by an integral multiple of the bit interval T. However, pulses due to the rising edges were all at integral multiples of the bit period T; this was true also for the pulses due to the falling edges. A similar problem has been observed by Hill and Butler They state that, whenever an EX-OR gate is used as phase [75]. detector, it gives rise to a positive and negative phase/output voltage characteristic, each having a slightly different gradient due to differences in the EX-OR gate threshold levels. Therefore, to obtain accurate results, it is essential that the same phase characteristic be used for each measurement. This phenomenon was identified only because of the bit-by-bit transition jitter measurements carried out in this project. It could have gone unnoticed if the jitter measurements had been performed by other possible techniques (described in the next Hence, in order to obtain a clear understanding of the chapter). jitter performance of the monostable clock recovery circuit, primary pulses were generated only at the rising edges of the received signal.

The block diagram of the new version of the modified MM clock recovery circuit is shown in Figure 3.8. It only differs from Fig.3.7 in that the EX-OR gate type of non-linear element is replaced by a monostable multivibrator (MM1) which generates primary pulses only on the rising edge of the received signal. The operation of this circuit can be understood by considering the circuit response to the input bit



New Version of the Modified Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit F1g. 3.8

sequence 10001 (S1), shown in Figure 3.9. The waveform S1 is obtained from the receiver output. The transition detector (MM1) generates a pulse only on every rising edge of the input signal, as shown by S2 in Figure 3.9. The width of these pulses is of sufficient duration to trigger the monostable multivibrator (MM2) of the clock recovery circuit. The monostable multivibrator (MM2) produces a pulse on every rising edge of its input (S4). It can be triggered by the primary pulses of the transition detector, or by the feedback pulses (S5 in Figure 3.9). As can be noted from Figure 3.9, the second, third and fourth bit intervals do not contain a rising edge transition. As a result, the transition detector does not produce a pulse during these intervals (S2). In this situation the feedback pulse triggers the monostable multivibrator (MM2) to produce the clock pulse Δ , 2Δ and 3Δ seconds after the ideal time for the second, third and fourth bit intervals, respectively. In the fifth bit interval, a transition from a 0 to 1 occurs in the input bit sequence and hence a primary pulse triggers the monostable multivibrator (MM2) at the ideal time. Thus. when a long sequence of ones or zeros occur in the input, the clock signal advances in time by Δ seconds during each bit interval until a rising edge transition occurs. This is a simplified description of the new version of the modified MM clock recovery circuit which is valid only when the input jitter is negligible. The remaining details of this circuit are the same as that mentioned in Sections 3.1 and 3.3, respectively.



Fig. 3.9 Timing Diagram of the New Version of the Self-Sustaining Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit for a 10001 Input Bit Sequence

The next chapter reviews the various jitter measurement techniques and presents the novel jitter measurement scheme implemented in this thesis.

CHAPTER 4

THE MEASUREMENT OF JITTER

detection and Jitter measurement basically involves the measurement of variations in time delay between the significant instants of the digital signal under test with those of the reference controlling importance jitter in digital of signal. The telecommunication systems has been mentioned earlier in this thesis. In order to quantify this important parameter, a number of jitter measurement techniques have been developed. These techniques include approximate estimates of the peak-to-peak jitter, straight-forward phase comparison suitable for commercial applications, and specialized symbol-by-symbol direct jitter applications with laboratory measurement. A brief review of the various jitter measurement methods that have been developed [75-77,81-83] is given first. Later, the technique which was investigated in this project and the method finally adopted are explained.

4.1 Various Methods for Measuring Jitter

4.1.1 Oscilloscope

An estimate of the jitter present on a signal can be obtained by using a high frequency oscilloscope with a very stable linear time base. Using high-speed sampling plug-in modules and adjusting the time axis so that a leading or trailing edge is just within the boundaries of the display, an estimate of the peak-to-peak jitter due to repetitive sources of phase deviation can be read directly from the oscilloscope [75]. This is illustrated in Figure 4.1, where the peak-to-peak jitter is the time interval between the two vertical markers. This scheme gives a relatively good estimate of the jitter



Fig. 4.1 Oscilloscope Display of Peak-to-Peak Jitter

level, provided that the phase excursions are repetitive in nature or at least, occur frequently. This method 3 simple but does not allow for an accurate measurement; also, effects due to random fitter will go unnoticed.

4.1.2 Calibrated Baseband Phase Demodulator

As defined earlier, jitter is an unwanted phase modul tion present on the received digital signal or on the extracted timing signal. Using a phase demodulator, the received jittered signal may be demodulated and thus converted to a baseband signal that contains the low frequency jitter information. This scheme requires a highly stable phase reference signal which establishes the ideal jitter-free positions in the time domain. The signal under investigation is then compared against the phase reference signal. The calibrated phase demodulator measurement scheme is shown in Figure 4.2.

The two inputs are each passed through a divide-by-two frequency divider, in order to make the phase detector immune to small amplitude differences and wave slopes, and to facilitate jitter measurements whose amplitudes may be several unit intervals (UI) (1 UI= 1 bit period). However, this frequency division reduces the overall accuracy of the measurement.

The "divided down" signals are then applied to an EX-OR phase sensitive detector, whose output contains a stream of pulses whose <u>widths</u> are proportional to the phase difference between the signal under test and the reference signal [76]. A slightly different version of the calibrated phase demodulator produces a stream of pulses at the output of the phase detector whose <u>amplitudes</u> are proportional to the jitter.



Fig. 4.2 Schematic of Calibrated Phase Demodulator



Fig. 4.3 Digital Processing Oscilloscope Display [75]

The output of the phase detector, which contains either a pulse width modulated (PWM) or a pulse amplitude modulated (PAM) stream of pulses, is passed through a low pass filter (LPF) to remove the line frequency component [77]. The LPF output is a continuous analog signal representing the jitter present on the stream of pulses under test. amplified and applied to a RMS voltmeter or to a This output is The voltmeter gives the RMS value of the jitter, spectrum analyzer. defined by σ . The spectrum analyzer gives the power spectral density Ignoring the DC offset, which is due to the static of the jitter. phase shift between the stream of pulses under test and the reference signal, the area under the spectrum is proportional to the jitter power. If we assume that the input jitter is Gaussian, then the jitter power is equal to the jitter variance.

There are certain problems associated with the calibrated baseband phase demodulator [24]. These are:-

a) Sensitivity to amplitude and wave-shape changes at the demodulator input.

b) Poor linearity to small phase deviations if there exists a large static phase shift at its input. This is because the phase demodulator may be driven into its non-linear region. A variable delay line should be used to adjust the static phase shift to 0° .

c) A phase comparator can typically measure a peak-to-peak jitter of upto about 180° . A high amplitude, low-frequency jitter in excess of 180° drives the demodulator into the non-linear region. The phase detector then reads a low value for jitter due to the limiting action of the amplifier and filter following it. Thus the calibrated phase demodulator has poor linearity for wide phase deviations.

d) A balanced phase detector gives rise to both positive and negative phase/output voltage characteristic having different gradients. This is due to the difference in the threshold levels of the EX-OR gate for the rising and the falling edges. As a result, the detector operates for either a 0° or 180° static phase offset between its two inputs. For good repeatability, the same phase characteristic has to be used for each measurement. Thus the calibrated phase demodulator suffers from an imbalance between phase deviations of opposite sign. A similar problem was observed during this project when an EX-OR gate was used as a transition detector as discussed in Section 3.3.1.

Although the calibrated phase demodulator technique has been widely used in the state cial development of jitter measuring instruments [78-86.1. 10)s not suitable for a detailed statistical analysis of jitter properties. The main drawback of this method of measuring jitter is that the LPF attenuates the high-frequency jitter components. It disguises the discrete nature of jitter, which is defined only once per symbol at the ideal timing instant. The LPF provides a readily measurable analog signal representative of jitter, but does not allow assignment of precise jitter values on a symbol-by-symbol basis. The study of high-frequency jitter is, however, important for the understanding of the way in which jitter accumulates in long-haul systems [81].

4.1.3 Digital Processing Oscilloscope

A more detailed description of the statistical phenomena of jitter is obtained using a digital processing oscilloscope (DPO) [82,83]. This measurement scheme gives a time and amplitude quantized histogram estimate for the probability density function (pdf) of the transition times of a digital signal. Jitter is measured on the signal directly without any translation of the signal to baseband. This technique is independent of the data rate or format of the signal under test.

The jittered signal is displayed on the DPO using the reference unjittered signal as the trigger. The portion of the jittered signal having the maximum slope is centered on the display of the scope and is made to pass through a voltage window in the minimum time. Hence the exact time at which the signal passed through the window is known, and any spreading which occurs due to the jitter between the two signals at the input is observed. Also, by using high-speed sampling plug-in units, the time axis is extended until the jittered signal is just contained within the boundaries of the display.

The timing instants at which the signal passes through the window can be determined more accurately by decreasing the height of the voltage window and increasing the resolution of the time axis. The time axis is divided into a number of uniform intervals. Points on the waveform are acquired by equivalent time sampling [84]. Each of these acquired points lies in a particular time interval. The sampling process continues until at least a single point is acquired in each time interval. This corresponds to a single scan of the sampling process (Fig. 4.3).

The number of points lying within each interval is then multiplied by an indicator function which is unity for points falling within the voltage window and zero for all other points. Non-zero values for the indicator function denote the time interval during which signal transitions have been detected.

A number of waveforms are acquired and the same operation is

67

performed on each of them. By summing up the number of points falling within each time interval, for every waveform acquired, a histogram estimator for the pdf of jitter is built up. Using the histogram the peak-to-peak jitter can be obtained by measuring the displacement of the extreme points along the time axis. The RMS jitter between the signal under test and the reference signal may also be evaluated.

This method gives a direct estimate of the jitter pdf. On the other hand, it suffers from the same limitations as that of the calibrated phase demodulator. That is, it does not give the high-frequency bit-by-bit jitter on a single-shot basis and hence does not throw light on how jitter accumulates in a regenerator. The measurements rely heavily on the selection of the window width. Choosing a large window size reduces the measurement time but introduces some inaccuracy into the results. If a small window is chosen, a severe measurement time penalty is involved as a number of scans have to be made to obtain a smooth reproducible pdf. In such a case, the equipment has to be stable for the duration of the Thus, this measurement scheme depends to a great extent measurement. on the operator settings.

4.1.4 Symbol-by-Symbol Jitter Measurement

This technique measures the jitter present in a digital symbol stream, on a symbol-by-symbol basis. The phase reference signal and the jittered signal under investigation are used to generate two streams of pulses. Both streams of pulses are required to have the same width, height and flatness. The difference between these two derived pulse streams is integrated to generate a stream of pulses whose heights are made proportional to the timing jitter between the

68

two input streams. By measuring the pulse heights, a record of the symbol-by-symbol jitter is obtained. This scheme also has a measurement sensitivity independent of the data rate, being dependent only on the amplitude of the generated pulse streams and on the integrator gain constant [81].

Jitter amplitudes as low as 1 ps can be measured using this scheme provide that the necessary components and equipment are available. The wide bandwidth of the PAM waveform proportional to jitter implies a need for precision in the pulse generation, since any irregularities in pulsewidth, height or flatness appears as noise on the waveform. The design of the integrator presents the greatest challenge for implementation, requiring Op-Amps with a unity-gain bandwidth as large as 1 Ghz.

4.2 PWM to PAM conversion technique

A timing jitter measurement scheme is presented, which allows measurement of the jitter in a digital bit stream on a bit-by-bit basis. The output of the phase detector circuit is a series of rectangular pulses whose widths are proportional to the phase difference between the transmitter clock and the extracted clock. The clock is extracted from the received digital signal using a monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit. The output of the phase detector can be considered to be pulse width modulated (FWM) by the amplitude of the timing jitter on a bit-by-bit basis. By integrating the widths of the pulses at the output of the phase detector, a stream of pulses is obtained whose heights or amplitudes are proportional to the time delays between the two clocks (Fig.4.4). By measuring the amplitudes of these pulses, a record of the bit-by-bit timing jitter is obtained.



Samples taken by the digitizing oscilloscope.

Fig. 4.4 Timing diagram of the Jitter Measurement Scheme.

The measurement sensitivity is independent of the data rate. It is dependent only on the amplitude of the reference and extracted clock pulse streams and on the integration time; i.e., on dV/dt. In our jitter measurement system the amplitude of the pulses for worst case jitter is 1 Volt and the peak-to-peak jitter allowed is 22.4 ns (\pm 11.2 ns). Thus, the measurement sensitivity is 44.6 μ V/ps (1V/22.4 ns). Ultimate measurement resolution depends on the vertical resolution of the digitizing oscilloscope and on the noise in the measurement system. **Frequency Divider and Phase Detector Circuit**

of the jitter Figure 4.5 illustrates the block diagram measurement system which was initially developed for this project. The circuits were implemented on three different printed circuit (pc) In order to minimize reflections, fifty ohm microstrip boards. transmission lines were used and the interconnections were kept as short as possible. Since high speed operation was desired, MECL 10KH Careful circuit layout and strict adherence to a gates were used. matched-transmission line environment were followed throughout. The signalling is done at the DS-3 rate (44.736 Mb/s). In order to have sufficient time for sampling, and discharging the capacitor in the integrate and dump circuit the clock frequency is divided by two. As a result, a clock waveform of period 44.8 ns is used for the jitter measurement process. The extracted clock signal is also divided by two Frequency division of the two clock signals is (Fig. 4.4). accomplished by using T - flip flops (IC 1 & IC 2) shown in Figure 4.6. Both the clock signals have a duty cycle of 50%. Initially, the extracted lock signal (VB) which has jitter present on it is adjusted to have a static phase offset of 11.2 ns (+ 90°) with respect to the



Fig. 4.5 Experimental Jitter Measurement System



Fig.4.6 Frequency Divider and Phase Detector Circuit

phase reference clock (VA). With such an arrangement the recovered clock could either arrive 11.2 ns earlier or 11.2 ns later than the ideal reference clock. In other words, the peak-to-peak jitter allowed is 22.4 ns (± 11.2 ns). The phase detector is an R-S flip flop (IC 3) which triggers only on the rising edge. The rising edge of the reference or transmitter clock sets the flip-flop and the rising edge of ...e recovered or extracted clock resets the flip-flop. Thus the output of the phase detector is a stream of pulses whose widths are proportional to the timing jitter. As the peak-to-peak jitter allowed is ± 11.2 ns, the output of the phase detector is a stream of pulses whose widths lie between 0 to a maximum of 22.4 ns (worst case jitter). Hence, the maximum integration time is 22.4 ns. Out of the remaining 22.4 ns available before the beginning of the next cycle, 11.2 ns each is alloted for sampling and dumping. Since high speed operation is desired, emitter coupled logic (ECL 10KH family) gates were used. These have a propagation delay of 1 ns and typical transition times of Figures 4.7 (a) and (b) show the waveforms at the output of 1.8 ns. the frequency divider and phase detector.

Integrate-and-Dump Filter

The integrate-and-dump filter is required to convert the pulse width proportional to jitter (output from the phase detector), to pulse amplitude. The basic requirement of this filter is that the output voltage be linearly proportional to the width of the pulse.

The integration cycle is accomplished by using a BJT differential-pair configuration, as shown in Figure 4.8. It consists of two matched transistors, Q_3 and Q_4 , whose emitters are joined together and biased by a transistor (Q_2) constant-current source. A



Reference Clock @ 44.736 MHz.

Reference Clock @ 22.37 MHz.

(a)



Phase difference of 20 ns between the two clocks.

(b)

Fig. 4.7 Waveforms at the Output of the (a) Frequency Divider of the Reference Clock (b) Phase Detector

.





capacitor (C_6) at the collector of Q_3 is charged for a length of time that is equal to the width of the pulse from the phase detector. The transistors Q_2 , Q_3 and Q_4 are all DC biased such that they remain in the active region for the amplitude range of the input signal. The base of Q_4 is AC grounded. With the configuration of Fig. 4.8, Q_3 conducts only when the signal at its input goes negative. Thus the inverted version of the phase detector output (proportional to jitter) is applied to the input of the differential amplifier. Since

$$Q = C V$$

$$I = dQ/dt = C dV/dt.$$
(4.1)

The phase detector output has an amplitude of 1 V (dV) and the maximum pulse with is 22.4 ns (dt). Choosing a capacitance of 150 pF for C_6 , the required bias current I is equal to 6.7 mA. When the input signal (Vc) to the differential amplifier is in the low state, the transistor Q_3 is switched on and the entire bias current I flows through the collector of Q_3 to charge the capacitor C_6 . The capacitor is charged for the duration of time that the input signal is in the low state. When Vc changes state, the transistor Q_3 switches off and the integration cycle is completed.

A VMOSFET (VN10KM) across the capacitor (C_6) is used to discharge the capacitor (dump cycle). In order to provide a short period of time during which the peak output voltage may be sampled by the digitizing oscilloscope, the FET (Q_5 of Fig. 4.8) is arranged to turn on approximately 11.2 ns after the integration period. The FET is used as an analog switch. Whenever the gate signal VD (amplified dump pulse) is above the pinch-cff voltage of the FET (in this case 2.0 V), the FET is turned on such that the drain-source resistance (r_{ds}) is very small (approx. 5 ohms). Then, the charged capacitor (C) discharges through the FET and the voltage across it becomes equal to zero.

Dump Pulse Generator and Amplifier

The schematic diagram of the dump pulse generator and amplifier is illustrated in Figure 4.9. The dump pulse serves as the control signal to turn the FET on and off in order to charge and discharge the capacitor. The dump pulse is generated by a NOR gate. Signals Vini and VA (Fig. 4.4) are applied to the NOR gate. A dump pulse of width 11.2 ns, which is equal to the time the two input signals are in the low state, is generated. The pulse also occurs 11.2 ns after the integration cycle is completed, to allow for sampling the peak voltage across the capacitor (C_6).

Since the pinch-off voltage of the FET is approximately 2 volts, a signal of amplitude larger than 2 volts is required to turn the FET on. As the output from the ECL NOR gate has an amplitude of only 1 volt, it needs to be amplified further before it can serve as the control signal to the gate of the FET. This amplification is carried out by the common base amplifier shown in Figure 4.9. The amplified dump pulse (VD) is then used to control the FET. The gain of the common base amplifier was around 3. A high frequency Motorola npn transistor BFR 91, having an f_T of 5 GHz, was used. Figures 4.10 (a), (b) and (c) show the waveforms at the input of the common base amplifier, the amplified output which is applied to the gate of the FET and the signal at the drain of the FET, respectively.

Figure 4.11 shows the waveform at the output of the integrate-and-dump circuit. As can be seen from this figure, for an input square wave of period 44.8 ns, the capacitor charges for 22.4 ns,





- Fig. 4.10 Waveforms present at
 - (a) the Input of the Common Base Amplifier.
 - (b) the Output of the Amplifier, applied to the Gate of the FET.
 - (c) the Drain of the FET.



Fig. 4.11 Output of th



Fig. 4.12 Output of the



t of the Integrate & Dump I



of the Integrate & Dump Fi



ilter at 22.37 MHz.



lter at 3.00 MHz.

then holds and dumps the voltage in the remaining time of 22.4 ns.

In principle, the measurement scheme described in this section is perfectly good. However, the practical performance of this jitter measurement system was not satisfactory at the signalling speed of As it is apparent from Fig. 4.11, the charging of the 22.37 MHz. capacitor is not linear with respect to the integration time. This might be due to the fact that, in Fig. 4.10 (a), the width of the input pulse is 11.2 ns and the period is 44.8 ns. After amplification the duration of the pulse increases to 45.15 ns (Fig. 4.10 (b)). Because of this the conduction cycle of the FET is greater than 20 ns (Fig. 4.10 (c)), whereas ideally the time allowed for the discharge of the capacitor is only 11.2 ns. This necessitates a better design for the common base amplifier and the use of a FET having a higher switching Secondly, the noise present at the gate was capacitively speed. coupled to the drain and hence to the charging capacitor. As a result, the output of the integrate-and-dump circuit shown in Fig. 4.11 is distorted.

The performance of the same circuit was tested using a square wave at 3.00 MHz. Figure 4.12 shows the output of the integrate-and-dump filter at this rate. It can be seen that the filter performs well at this frequency. The capacitor charges linearly up to a maximum of 7.3V during the time the input signal is in the low state (166.67 ns). It can also be observed from this figure that, there is an undershoot and ringing for a period of about 50 ns before the output settles down to zero volts.

This indicates that the circuit with the components shown can be used up to about 10 MHz. For higher speeds, a better design of the electronic circuit is required using components having a very large bandwidth. Thus, as precise measurements of timing jitter could not be obtained at the signalling rate of 22.37 MHz, this scheme of measurement was abandoned and other methods were explored.

4.3 Jitter Measurement Using a Digitizing Oscilloscope

A new experimental jitter measurement technique was developed to overcome the limitations of the method described in Section 4.2. Α measurement method was sought that would eliminate the integrate and dump filter, which was the main limitation of the PWM to PAM conversion The jitter inherent in the recovered clock could be technique. measured by taking advantage of the feature of the high speed digitizing oscilloscope viz., that it can instantaneously sample and store the voltage on a real-time basis. The hardware complexity is reduced to a great extent as no extra circuitry is required. This scheme provides a time and amplitude quantized histogram estimate for the probability density function (pdf) of the transition times of the recovered clock signal. Thus it provides a numerical description of the jitter phenomenon.

In order to acquire a sample at the same point on the waveform during each cycle, the clock frequency must be an integer multiple of the oscilloscope sampling rate of 200 MSamples/s (this was a limitation of the HP54201A oscilloscope). Hence, the signalling rate was changed from the DS-3 rate (44.736 Mb/s) to 50 Mb/s. Thus, the recovered clock has a frequency of 50 MHz (period = 20 ns), a linear rise time of 2.0 ns and an amplitude of 0.7 V. It is applied to Channel 1 of the digitizing oscilloscope. The digitizing scope is made to trigger on the positive crossings of Channel 1. The trigger level is set to 50% of the peak-to-peak amplitude. The time base is adjusted for a range of 10 μ s. At this range the scope has a sampling rate of 100 MS/s (sample period = 10 ns). We assume that the sampling clock of the digitizing oscilloscope is ideal, i.e. it has no inherent jitter, so that it can be used as the reference clock, to determine the timing jitter present on the recovered clock. Once triggered, the scope acquires 1000 samples on a single-shot basis (real-time sampling mode) of the recovered clock. Since the recovered clock waveform has a period of 20 ns and a pulse width of 5 ns, then we obtain for each cycle one sample on the rising edge of the clock pulse and another when the recovered clock pulse is low. (See Figure 4.13). Hence, for each acquisition 500 samples were obtained on the rising edge of the clock waveform, taken at precise intervals of 20.0 nanoseconds.

From these voltage samples, an estimate of the timing jitter on the recovered clock can be determined, using the following argument. In the absence of jitter, the scope acc 'res a sample at the same point on the waveform (trigger level crossing) during each cycle. However, when the recovered clock pulse arrives later than the ideal time, a sample is taken below the trigger level, while, on the other hand, when the clock pulse arrives earlier than the ideal time, the sample is taken above the trigger level. Using the slope of the rising edge of the clock waveform the voltage differences can be used to determine the time shift, since

$$\Delta t = \frac{s(t_i) - \text{Trigger level}}{ds/dt} = \frac{\Delta V}{\text{Slope of the Signal}} \dots (4.2)$$

We have used the convention here that when the recovered clock pulse arrives earlier than the ideal time, then the timing jitter amplitude





 Δt is positive. The peak-to-peak jitter allowed is only for the time range during which the rising edge is linear, which in our case was 2.0 ns. Thus, the recovered clock pulses could arrive a maximum of 1 ns, earlier or later than the ideal time. This time duration is sufficient to measure the high frequency jitter that may be expected in most practical systems. The trigger level (50% peak-to-peak amplitude) is the mean position around which signal transitions take place.

The amplitude scale (Y-axis) on the display of the digitizing oscilloscope is uniformly partitioned up to a maximum of 64 levels (63 intervals), which we denote as W_1, W_2, \ldots, W_{64} . Subsequent to a single acquisition, a histogram estimate for the probability density function of the voltage differences of the recovered clock is obtained using:

$$p(W_j) = \frac{1}{\Delta W} \cdot \frac{N(W_j)}{\sum_{j} N(W_j)}; \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, 64$$

...(4.3)

where $\Delta W = W_{j+1} - W_j$, is the width of each interval on the amplitude scale in volts. $N(W_j)$ is the number of samples $s(t_i)$ which lie on each level $W_j \left(\sum_j N(W_j) = 500\right)$. The mean and variance is then estimated from

the histogram data in terms of the amplitude in volts by using:

Mean =
$$\overline{V}$$
 = $\frac{\sum_{j} N(W_{j}) \cdot W_{j}}{\sum_{j} N(W_{j})}$... (4.4)

$$\sum_{j} \left[N(W_{j}).W_{j}^{2} \right] - \left\{ \sum_{j} \left[N(W_{j}).W_{j} \right] \right\}^{2}$$
Variance = $\sigma_{v}^{2} = \frac{\sum_{j} N(W_{j})}{\sum_{j} N(W_{j}) - 1} \dots (4.5)$

By performing further acquisitions we obtain histograms with distributed means and variances $\sigma_{v_i}^2$. The Standard Deviation (σ_t) or the mean R.M.S. jitter value may then be found using:

$$\sigma_{t} = \frac{\text{Mean of the Variances}}{\text{Slope of the signal}} \dots (4.6a)$$

$$\sigma_{t} = \frac{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sigma_{v_{i}}^{2}}{\text{Slope of the signal}} \dots (4.6b)$$

where i = 1,N is the number of histograms obtained.

In order to test this measurement principle, an NRZ input data pattern of 100000000000000 at 50 Mb/s was applied to the original Monostable Multivibrator (MM) clock recovery circuit (EX-OR gate as the transition detector). It is a 16-bit repetitive fixed word pattern. The digitizing scope was set for the conditions mentioned at the beginning of this section. Figure 4.14(a) illustrates the pattern of occurrence of the recovered clock pulses. Each dot represents a sample acquired by the gape on the rising edge of the recovered clock pulse stream. The two dots on the rising voltage level represent the clock pulses at the output of the clock recovery circuit when the MM is triggered by the primary pulses from the transition detector. The vransition detector generates only 2 primary pulses for each 16-bit





Fig. 4.14 Pattern of Occu (a) when transitive the rising (b) when transitive rising edge





.

ock Pulse Stream lses on both,

lses only on the
fixed word pattern, one on the rising edge and the other on the falling edge of the "1" bit (refer section 3.1). The remaining 14 dots on the decreasing voltage level stream represent the clock pulses when the MM is triggered by the feedback pulses. Each pulse on the downhill occurs Δ seconds after the previous pulse until a transition from a 0 to 1 occurs.

rom Figure 4.14(a) it can also be observed that the two samples on the rising voltage level do not occur at the same amplitude level. Ideally, they should be at the same level, because these clock pulses should occur at integral multiples of the bit period T (=20 ns) of the input data. The reason for this non-ideal behaviour has been discussed in Sections 3.3.1 and 4.1.2.

In order to eliminate this undesirable effect the clock recovery circuit was modified by re-designing the transition detector. The EX-OR gate was replaced by a Monostable Multivibrator, which generates pulses only on the rising edge of the input data signal. In this thesis, this is referred to as the "new version of the modified MM clock recovery circuit" (Section 3.3.1). The same input data pattern of 100000000000000 was applied to the modified clock recovery circuit. Figure 4.14(b) illustrates the voltage samples obtained from the recovered clock pulse stream. It can be observed from the figure that for this new clock recovery circuit, the primary pulses from the transition detector, give rise to samples that occur at the same amplitude level, or in other words at integral multiples of the bit Following the "1" bit, we have 15 pulses of decreasing period T. voltage level, as the clock recovery circuit is triggered by the feedback pulses.

The construction of the histogram estimate for the pdf of the transition times and the numerical evaluation of the jitter variance, etc. will be presented in Chapter 6. The next chapter discusses the experimental fiber optic system which was set up, and the measurements which were performed.

CHAPTER 5

THE EXPERIMENTAL FIBER OPTIC SYSTEM

An experimental optical fiber communication system employing the nonreturn-to-zero (NRZ) code was designed and constructed. The main objectives for setting up this experimental system were the following:

1. To investigate the performance of the self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit when used with the NRZ code.

2. To measure the absolute jitter present on the recovered clock on a symbol-by-symbol basis.

3. To obtain a graphical representation of the probability density function of jitter which would enable detailed jitter statistics to be derived, facilitate the identification of any deterministic structure to the jitter and serve as a valuable diagnostic tool in the investigation of random and data-dependent systematic jitter effects.

A block diagram of the experimental fiber optic system is shown in Figure 5.1. The experimental system consists of a data generator, laser transmitter, multimode optical fiber, avalanche photodiode detector (APD) preamplifier, main amplifier and a clock recovery circuit. The data generator generates binary NRZ data at 50 Mb/s when clocked externally by a 50 MHz sinusoidal, synthesized signal source. The data generator is capable of generating 10 or 16 bit repetitive fixed word patterns with any number of 1s or 0s and also pseudo-random binary sequences (PRBS) of length 2^{10} -1, 2^{15} -1 and 2^{23} -1 bits. This data stream then modulates the laser transmitter. The optical signal from the laser diode, which operates at a wavelength of 0.83 μ m, is fed to a multimode optical fiber. At the receiving end, the weak and noisy optical signal is converted to an electrical signal ty an APD detector.



Fig. 5.1 Block Diagram of the Experimental Optical Fiber System

The signal current produced by the APD is amplified to a useful level with a low noise preamplifier followed by a main amplifier. The output of the main amplifier is, ideally, the original binary NRZ data which was transmitted. The sampling clock required in the decision circuity of the decoder is derived from the received signal by the new self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit. In this chapter, the design and operation of each of the experimental components is described in detail.

5.1 Laser Transmitter

A General Optronics short wavelength 830 nm single longitudinal mode laser diode was used for the optical source. This laser diode has the drive circuitry, which incorporates automatic power and temperature control and performance warning alarm, built into the same package (model GO-ANA). The laser can be modulated over a frequency range of 20 Hz to 1.25 GHz, has an average coupled output power of 1 mW, and has a fairly linear output power versus current characteristic. The electrical input to the laser transmitter is capacitively coupled and has an impedance of approximately 50 ohms. The laser is biased at the centre of its linear operating region. An input peak-to-peak voltage swing of 0.8 volts is sufficient to turn off the laser for the zero level.

5.2 Optical Fiber

The experimental fiber optic system utilizes graded index, multimode fiber manufactured by Northern Telecom. This fiber has a numerical aperture of 0.2, an average attenuation of 2.75 dB/km, and a dispersion of 1.5 ns/nm-km (FWHM) at a wavelength of 0.83 μ m. The experimental system was tested with 5 km. of fiber. A variable optical

attenuator with the matching fiber optic connectors was not available in the laboratory. In order to control the amount of optical power incident on the APD detector, a short length of fiber was wound around a glass rod of approximately i cm. in diameter. In this way, power loss was achieved by microbending of the optical fiber [85].

Multimode optical fiber was used in this project because it was read.y available in the laboratory, together with the proper connectors for the laser source and the APD receiver. Single mode fiber and a long wavelength source at 1300 nm or 1500 nm could also be used, in which case, a considerably longer length of fiber would have been required because of the lower dispersion of the single mode fiber and the lower fiber attenuation at longer wavelengths. However, since a sufficient length of single mode fiber with proper connectors was not available in the laboratory it could not be used.

The 3 dB electrical bandwidth of the fiber (F_{3dB}) can be easily determined from the well-known equation [86]:

 $F_{3 dB} = 311/D$ MHz.km(5.1) where D = Pulse dispersion in ns/km (at FWHM)

Since the source has a spectral width of 0.84 nm, the pulse dispersion $D = 1.5 \text{ ns/nm-km} \cdot 0.84 \text{ nm}$

= 1.26 ns/km

The 3 dB electrical bandwidth from equation (5.1) is then,

 $F_{3 dB} = 311/1.26$ MHz.km

= 246.83 MHz.km

Since 5 km of optical fiber was used, the bandwidth for the total section is approximately 246.83 / 5 = 49.37 MHz. This is only a rough estimate; the actual bandwidth may be greater, because the dispersion

should be smaller due to mode mixing, which is caused by microbending and splices [86].

The bandwidth of the fiber should be sufficiently large or else a power penalty is incurred at the receiver. According to Senior [87], the maximum bit rate that can be used, without any SNR penalty at the receiver is given approximately by

B_ (max)
$$\cong$$
 0.2 / σ bit s⁻¹(5.2)

where $\sigma = 0.5 \times RMS$ pulse width of impulse response of the fiber

= 2.355 D

= 2.97 ns for the experimental fiber.

Therefore, $0.2/\sigma = 67$ Mb/s. Thus, the bandwidth of the fiber should be sufficient to transmit an NRZ data stream at 50 Mb/s.

5.3 Optical Pre-amplifier

The optical receiver consists of a detector, preamplifier, and main amplifier. The optical detector/preamplifier unit used in this thesis was originally designed and developed by Kumar S. Visvanatha [5]. The sensitivity of the receiver is determined mainly by the noise sources in the preamplifier stage. In order to achieve a low BER, it is necessary to minimize the noise contributions from the optical detector and the front-end electronics, while maintaining the signal integrity. Thus, a proper design of the preamplifier stage is essential for good system performance.

The experimental optical receiver employs a silicon APD followed by a low gain bipolar transimpedance preamplifier. The detector used is an RCA C30908E APD. The main features of this APD are as follows: operating voltage and breakdown voltage of 228 V and 241 V respectively; dark current of 18 nA; responsivity of 35 A/W and a noise current of 0.2 pA/Hz. A transimpedance design was used because it offers a wide dynamic range and does not need equalization [5].

A schematic diagram of the preamplifier is given in Figure 5.2. The preamplifier consists of 3 stages. The first stage is a low gain common emitter amplifier. This is followed by a differential pair and finally a common collector stage. Bipolar transistors, each with an f_T of 4 GHz (BFR 90) were used for the active devices.

The first stage should have sufficient gain, so that noise generated by succeeding stages will be small when referred to the input of the first stage. Also it should have low input capacitance (C_i) since the bandwidth is inversely proportional to C_i . The mid-band gain of the first stage is approximately -2.3.

The differential pair provides adequate gain, and has a good high frequency response. The output impedance of the preamplifier is approximately 50 ohms to minimize reflections between the preamplifier and the main amplifier. The value of R_f determines the bandwidth and transimpedance of this circuit. The transimpedance is directly proportional to the value of R_f but the bandwidth is inversely proportional to it. The preamplifier had a bandwidth of about 100 MHz.

The preamplifier was constructed on a 4 cm x 5 cm printed circuit board which was enclosed in a die-cast metal chassis, with the APD mounted to one of its sides. High quality RF capacitors were used for decoupling the $V_{\rm cc}$ and APD bias voltage lines. Care was also taken to block stray RF energy from entering the preamplifier by using short, twisted pair wires with ferrite beads placed in series between the power supply and the preamp chassis.





5.4 Main Amplifier

The output of the preamplifier is applied to a Keithley Instruments Pulse Amplifier (model 105). This amplifier provides a voltage gain of 100 (40 dB), has a bandwidth of 500 MHz, and an input impedance of 50 ohms. At low levels (around -48 dBm to -50 dBm) of optical power incident on the detector, the output of this amplifier is approximately 0.2 V peak-to-peak. Since this is too low to trigger ECL gates, it was amplified further by a HP 461A pulse amplifier, which has a voltage gain of 10 (20 dB) and a bandwidth of 150 MHz.

5.5 Clock Recovery Circuit

The self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit described in Chapter 3 was used to recover the clock signal from the incoming NRZ data. A schematic diagram of the experimental clock recovery circuit is shown in Figure 5.3. The original circuit developed by Witte and Moustakas [70] is obtained by connecting point C to point B and leaving point H open. The modified clock recovery circuit is obtained by joining point H to point C as shown in Figure 5.3.

The clock recovery circuit board has been designed for power supply voltages of +2 V and -3.2 V. This allows the 51 ohm resistors at the output of each gate to be returned to ground (0 V), with VEE for each ECL chip equal to -3.2 V. The earlier threshold level of -1.3 V to trigger each ECL gate is now shifted to +0.7 V (+2 - 1.3). Since the optical receiver is ac coupled, the signal entering the clock recovery circuit is symmetrical about the 0 volt level (i.e. it has zero dc content), so that in order to trigger the ECL gates the received signal must be level shifted to +0.7 V. This level shifting is accomplished by resistors R1, R2 which form the components of a





- IC1 MC10H104 IC2 - MC10H107
 - IC2 MC10H107 IC3 - MC10H105
 - IC4 HC10H103

Fig.S.3 Schematic Diagram of Clock Recovery Circuit

voltage divider circuit. The potentiometer R2 was adjusted to set point A to 0.7 V. At the same time, the values of R1 and R2 were chosen so that the effective resistance of R1 and R2 in parallel is about 50 ohms, thus minimizing reflections between the main amplifier and clock recovery circuit.

The incoming level-shifted signal is applied to the transition detector, which produces a \cong 4 ns wide pulse at each rising and falling The EX-OR and the transition detector form the non-linear edge. element required to generate a spectral line at the incoming NRZ bit The transition detector is realized by a NAND gate, an EX-OR rate. gate, and a coaxial delay line (see Figure 5.3). On every input transition, a pulse is generated at the output of the EX-OR gate because its two inputs have unequal propagation delays (due to the delay line). The duration of the pulse is equal to the length of the In the experimental system, a 0.78 m long coaxial delay line delay. This corresponds to a pulse length of 3.9 ns, was used (RG 174/U). which is of sufficient duration to trigger the monostable multivibrator (MM).

The pulses from the transition detector, which will be referred to here as the primary pulses, are fed to an AND gate (IC 1B). If the criginal clock recovery circuit is desired, both the inputs to this gate are tied together and hence its output will be equal to its input. However, for the modified circuit, the transition detector output is gated (by an AND gate) with the delayed clock output (delay < T), so that, triggering of the MM by pulses that arrive too early is inhibited. Whenever this occurs, the MM will be triggered by the delayed clock pulse. Since this occurs closer to the ideal time, a reduction of overall clock jitter can be obtained. The output of the AND gate forms one of the inputs to an OR gate (IC 3A). The other input to the OR gate is the output clock signal delayed by the inner feedback loop by T1 seconds (T1 > T). If the primary pulse is late or missing, this delayed clock signal will trigger the MM.

The monostable multivibrator (MM) is realized by logic gates [88]. It produces a 5.0 ns pulse on every rising edge of its input signal. The output of the iM is at 50 MHz (the NRZ input bit rate).

When the input to the clock recovery circuit is left open, the circuit oscillates at a free running frequency of 1/T1. This oscillation is started by a transient pulse triggering the MM when the power is turned on. Due to the inner feedback, the MM is then repeatedly triggered every T1 seconds. By measuring the frequency of oscillation (using an HP 5326A Timer-Counter), the exact value of the delay T1 can be established. The frequency of oscillation changes by a few hundreds of KHz, when the +2 V power supply is adjusted slightly. This occurs because the amplitude of the gate outputs are changed slightly, resulting in changes in effective gate delay times due to amplitude-to-phase conversion that occurs because of non-zero gate thresholds. When the input to the clock recovery circuit is connected, the frequency of oscillation locks on to the bit rate of 50 MHz.

A new version of the modified MM clock recovery circuit was later developed due to the reasons mentioned in Sections 3.3.1 and 4.1.2. The only change compared to Figure 5.3 is in the transition detector. The NAND gate and the EX-OR gate were replaced by a MM (see Figure 5.4). It triggers only on the rising edge of the incoming level-shifted signal. Thus, we have pulses at the output of the



IC1 - MC10H104

IC2 - MC10H103

IC3 - MC10H105

Fig.S.4 Schematic Diagram of Transition Detector

transition detector only on the rising edge of the input signal. These pulses have a duration equal to 4ns (the propagation delay of the four OR gates IC 2A to IC 2D).

Both clock recovery circuits were constructed on 15 cm x 10 cm PC boards. Delay 1 was realized by a 3.4 m coaxial line (RG 174/U), whose delay of approximately 16 ns together with the propagation delay of the gates make T1 = 20.033 ns. Delay 2 was realized with two AND gates and a 3.5 m coaxial line (T2 = 19.88 ns). Coaxial BNC connectors (50 ohm) were used at the input and the output. Circuit interconnections were kept as short as possible. In order to avoid problems due to reflections, fifty ohm microstrip transmission lines were used throughout. Power supply lines on the pc board were decoupled to ground by high quality RF (mylar) capacitors (0.1 μ f, 47 pf and 100 μ f) at several points.

Most of the jitter measurement experiments and analysis were done only with the original monostable clock recovery circuit. Referring to Figure 5.3, the inputs to the AND gate (IC 1B) were tied together and the feedback loop of delay 2 was not used. The main objective of this thesis was to develop a suitable technique to measure the timing jitter on a bit-by-bit basis. The jitter of the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit was later measured using this measurement technique.

5.6 Jitter Measurement System

The experimental system used ite measure timing jitter on a bit-by-bit basis is illustrated in Figure 5.5. It consists of a HP54201A digitizing oscilloscope connected to a HP-85 computer through a Hewlett Packard Interface Bus (IEEE-488 Bus). The HP-85 serves as a



Fig.5.5 Experimental Jitter Measurement System

controller. It has been programmed to automatically acquire a waveform and store the digitized data on the tape cartridge. The data can also be transferred to a printer which is connected to the digitizing oscilloscope through an IEEE-488 bus.

The HP54201A is a dedicated, two channel, waveform-acquiring digital storage oscilloscope with full HP-IB programmability, and digitized waveform data output. It has a 300 MHz repetitive bandwidth and a single-shot digital storage bandwidth of 50 MHz (200 Megasamples/second). In the real-time sampling mode, the sample rate depends on the time range selected. For example, using the 10 μ s time range (1 μ s/cm) the sample rate is 100 Mega Samples/second. The scope can acquire a maximum of 1000 samples on each acquisition, on a single-shot basis. The minimum input voltage range is 40 mV (5 mV/cm). It has a vertical resolution of 6 bits. Hence, the maximum number of quantization levels is 64 (2⁶).

As an indication of the ultimate resolution attainable with this equipment, the lowest jitter level that can be measured for a signal slope of 3.684×10^8 is (using equation (4.2))

$$\Delta t = \frac{40 \text{ mV} / 64 \text{ levels}}{3.684 \times 10^8} = 1.7 \text{ ps}.$$

The measurement technique has been discussed in detail in Section 4.3. The ultimate accuracy of the scheme is limited by the temporal and vertical resolution, and the stability of the sampling, triggering and DC offset circuitry of the oscilloscope. It should be noted that the peak-to-peak jitter range is limited to the linear rise time of the signal. If the jitter exceeds this limit then samples may be taken on the falling edge, in which case the results will not be correct. The greatest problem found in using the digital processing oscilloscope (DPO) is that it critically depends on the operator settings. The trigger level and the sensitivity controls have to be adjusted to give a stable signal on the display. The trigger level and the delay have to be manually optimized until a good response is obtained. This leads to difficulty in repeating the results.

In the next chapter we present the system operation and waveforms at various points of the experimental fiber optic system. The experimental jitter measurement results are also presented and discussed.

CHAPTER 6 EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

the experimental optical fiber communication system employing the NRZ code, described in the previous chapter, was set up and various measurements were made. The overall system specifications are given in The relationship between the RMS jitter and the received Table 6.1. optical power level, for various transmitted bit patterns were The performance of the optical receiver, clock recovery obtained. circuit and the jitter measurement system are presented first. Next, the experimental relationship between the systematic RMS jitter, total RMS jitter and the transmitted bit patterns are discussed. Finally, the relationship between the total RMS jitter and received optical power level is discussed, with respect to various data patterns and pseudo-random bit sequences.

An examination of these results will be useful in understanding the jitter performance of the self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit. The results also enable us to obtain the jitter statistics, which are useful in determining the performance of an optical communication system in the presence of timing jitter.

6.1 System Operation and Waveforms

6.1.1 Data Generator

Figure 6.1 illustrates the output waveform of the data generator. It is an NRZ 16-bit repetitive sequence of 1001001001001001 at 50 Mb/s. This signal modulates the laser transmitter. As the input impedance of the laser driver amplifier is 50 ohm and requires an RF input of less than 20 mA peak-to-peak for 50% modulation depth, the amplitude of the output of the data generator is adjusted for 0.8 V peak-to-peak. Table 6.1 System Specifications

Parameters	Specifications
Data rate	50 Mbits/s
Type of line code	NRZ
Source type	Laser Diode
Source wavelength	830 nm
Source spectral width	0.84 nm
Fiber type	Graded index Multimode fiber
Fiber attenuation	2.75 dB/km
Fiber dispersion	1.5 ns/nm-km
Length of the fiber	5 km
Bandwidth-distance product	246.83 MHz-km
Power coupled into the fiber	-20 dBm
Detector type	APD

6.1.2 Optical Receiver and Main Amplifier

Figure 6.2 shows the signal at the output of the preamplifier for the same transmitted data pattern as mentioned in the above section. The optical power level at the receiver is -42 dBm.

Figures 6.3 (a) and (b) show the eye diagram at the output of the main amplifier for an NRZ pseudo-random bit sequence (of length 2^{23} -1) applied to the laser transmitter, at received optical power levels of -35.8 and -50.5 dbm, respectively. For these diagrams, the low pass filter at the output of the preamplifier, i.e. the capacitor C8 (Fig. 5.2), is removed. Note in Fig. 6.3 (a), that the eye diagram is skewed slightly. This might be due to the large amount of optical power falling upon the detector. However, the eye is open in both cases, which implies that the fiber-receiver bandwidth is sufficient for a signalling rate of 50 Mb/s. The transimpedance of the preamplifier circuit is approximately 1980 ohms (into a 50 ohm load). The 3 dB bandwidth of the receiver, with C8 absent, is approximately 65 MHz [5].

6.1.3 Clock Recovery Circuit

Figure 6.4 demonstrates the operation of the original self-sustaining monostable multivibrator clock recovery circuit (refer to Fig. 5.3). The input signal to the clock recovery circuit is a 16-bit repetitive NRZ sequence of 1001001001001001 at a received optical power level of -49 dBm, as shown in Fig. 6.4 (a). The output of the original clock recovery circuit, for this input is shown in Fig. 6.4 (b).

The operation of the new version of the original monostable clock recovery circuit (Fig. 5.4) is demonstrated in Fig. 6.5. The input to the clock recovery circuit is a 16-bit repetitive NRZ sequence of



(a)



(ь)

lfier for an NRZ ad optical 1010101010101010 at a received optical power level of -45 dBm. The slope of the signal as measured on the analog oscilloscope (Tektronix 2465) is 3.68×10^8 (0.7 V/ 1.9 ns).

It was observed while performing the measurements that, as the received optical power level was varied, the potentiometer R2 of the DC level shifter (refer to Fig. 5.3) had to be adjusted for proper operation of the clock recovery circuit. The reason for this behaviour is that when the received optical power is changed, the amplitude of the main amplifier output changes, since automatic gain control (AGC) is not incorporated in the optical receiver. This amplitude change results in a slight phase shift in the output of the EX-NOR gate (IC2B, see Figure 5.3) due to the incoming signal crossing the ECL gate threshold at a slightly different time. This phenomenon is more commonly referred to as amplitude-to-phase conversion. This problem could be overcome by employing an amplifier which delivers an output of constant amplitude and phase shift for a large dynamic range of the input signal.

The recovered clock is applied next to the jitter measurement system. The results of the jitter measurement will be discussed in Section 6.2.

6.1.4 Jitter Measurement System

The output of the clock recovery circuit is applied to the experimental jitter measurement system (see Fig. 5.5). The clock is recovered using the new version of the monostable circuit. The recovered clock signal is applied to channel 1 of the digitizing oscilloscope. The oscilloscope is set for the following conditions:

Sample rate:	100 MSamples/sec. (10 μs time range)
	real-time sampling mode.
Amplitude range:	93.8 mV/div.
DC Offset:	350 mV.
Trigger source:	Channel 1
Trigger slope:	Positive
Trigeer level:	50% of peak-to-peak amplitude

In Figures 6.7(a) to 6.7(d), the vertical bar to the right and the vertical bars to the left represent the time of occurrence of the recovered clock when the clock recovery circuit (Fig.5.3) is triggered by the primary pulses and by the feedback pulses, respectively. The clock recovery circuit is triggered by the primary pulses whenever there is a positive transition in the input data to the clock recovery circuit, and by the feedback pulses in the absence of a positive transition, for each bit interval T.

Note from Fig.6.7(a), that the recovered clock due to the feedback pulses occurs 0.095 seconds after the ideal time. Theoretically, the recovered clock should occur only Δ seconds (\cong 0.033 ns) later than the



Fig.6.6(a) Pattern of Occurrence of the Recovered Clock as seen on the Screen of the Digitizing Oscilloscope for a 1010101010101010 Data Pattern applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.6(b) Pattern of Occurrence of the Recovered Clock as seen on the Screen of the Digitizing Oscilloscope for a 1000100010001000 Data Pattern applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.6(c) Pattern of Occurrence of the Recovered Clock as seen on the Screen of the Digitizing Oscilloscope for a 1000000010000000 Data Pattern applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.6(d) Pattern of Occurrence of the Recovered Clock as seen on the Screen of the Digitizing Oscilloscope for a 100000000000000 Data Pattern applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.6(e) Pattern of Occurrence of the Recovered Clock as seen on the Screen of the Digitizing Oscilloscope for a PRBS 2²³-1 Data Pattern applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.7(a) Histogram Estimate for the Pdf of the Recovered Clock Timing Jitter when a 1010101010101010 Data Pattern is applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.7(b) Histogram Estimate for the Pdf of the Recovered Clock Timing Jitter when a 1000100010001000 Data Pattern is applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.7(c) Histogram Estimate for the Pdf of the Recovered Clock Timing Jitter when a 10[°], 0000010000000 Data Pattern is applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig.6.7(d) Histogram Estimate for the Pdf of the Recovered Clock Timing Jitter when a 10000000000000 Data Pattern is applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.



Fig. 6.7(e) Histogram Estimate for the Pdf of the Recovered Clock Timing Jitter when a PRBS 2²³-1 Data Pattern is applied to the Input of the Clock Recovery Circuit.

ideal time, since the feedback delay is greater than the bit interval T (20 ns) by that amount. Thus a 1 to 0 transition gives much too long a delay. Observing Figures 6.6(b) and 6.7(b) we again note that, when there is a transition from 1 to 0 in the input data to the clock recovery circuit, or in other words, when the clock recovery circuit is triggered by a primary pulse and a feedback pulse in succession, the rece fred clock pulses are not separated by Δ seconds but by a significantly longer time. However, when the clock recovery circuit is triggered only by the feedback pulses, the recovered clock pulses are separated by Δ seconds in time as expected. A similar phenomenon is observed in Figures 6.7(c) and 6.7(d), except that the separation between the recovered clock pulses due to a primary pulse and a feedback pulse is about 0.13 ns and 0.16 ns, respectively.

Thus, in general, from Figures 6.7(a) to 6.7(e), the measured results show that when the clock recovery circuit is triggered by a primary pulse and then by a feedback pulse, the time interval between the two recovered clock pulses is greater than T1 (T+ Δ) seconds. On the other hand, when the clock recovery circuit is triggered only by the feedback pulses the recovered clock pulses occur every T1 seconds.

In order to verify the above statement, the time interval between the recovered clock pulses was measured directly on the oscilloscope for different, 16-bit data patterns applied to the input of the clock recovery circuit. The results are shown in Table 6.2.

Table 6.2

Measured time interval between two successive recovered clock pulses when Transmitted bit sequence the input data to the clock recovery circui				
(16-bit repetitive pattern)	has a 0 to 1 transition		has no transitions	
1010101010101010	19.73 ± 0.05ns	20.39 ± 0.05ns		
1000100010001000	19.68 ± 0.04ns	20.28 ± 0.04ns	20.08 ± 0.05ns	
10000001000000	19.55 ± 0.05ns	20.28 ± 0.03ns	20.08 ± 0.05ns	
1000000000000000	18.94 ± 0.04ns	20.44 ± 0.04ns	20.08 ± 0.05ns	

It can be seen that, when there is a transition from a 0 to 1 in the input data, the time interval between two recovered clock pulses decreases, as the number of consecutive zeros in the transmitted bit sequence increases. This is to be expected because, in the absence of a primary pulse, the recovered clock pulse advances Δ seconds later than the ideal time during each bit interval until a transition occurs. But, when there is a transition from 1 to 0 in the input data, the time interval between two clock pulses is greater (20.44 \pm 0.04ns) than the interval between two clock pulses in the absence of transitions (20.08 The interval between the clock pulses when a 1 to 0 ± 0.05ns). transition occurs, depends on the transmitted bit sequence. Ideally, one would expect the time interval to be independent of the transmitted bit sequence. This unusual behaviour is also evident in Figures 6.7 (a) to (d) where the time interval between the recovered clock pulses (due to a primary and feedback pulse) varies from 0.095 ns to 0.16 ns.

The most probable reason for the difference in performance of the clock recovery circuit when triggered by a primary pulse and a feedback pulse is that the two pulse shapes are not exactly the same. To
investigate this further, the two pulse shapes present at pin numbers 4 and 5 of IC3A (Fig.5.3) were measured, as shown in Figure 6.8(a) and (b). As is clearly evident from this figure, the primary pulse and the feedback pulse have different rise times and different slopes. It can be seen from Figure 6.8 that, the feedback pulse takes 0.8 ns longer time to reach the trigger level of 0.35V (50% of peak-to-peak amplitude). Since the feedback pulse has a smaller slope and larger rise time, it crosses the gate threshold at a time greater than $T+\Delta$ seconds. Thus, the recovered clock due to a feedback pulse occurs at a time greater than Δ seconds after the ideal time. Also the amplitude difference between the two pulses might be giving rise to amplitude-to-phase conversion.

The plausible reason for the larger rise time of the feedback pulse can be attributed to the distortion in the pulse shape which occurs as the pulse traverses through 4m. of RF coaxial cable (delay 1, Fig.5.3). The RF coaxial cable not only attenuates the pulse amplitude slightly, but also filters some high frequency components, thereby increasing the rise time of the pulse. Thus, even with this non-ideal behaviour the time difference is still very small and hence does not have much effect on the overall jitter performance.

In the next section we discuss the numerical results of the jitter measurement.

6.2 Bit-by-bit Jitter Measurements

The RMS value of the absolute jitter for the recovered clock depends on several parameters, i.e. laser diode, the fiber dispersion, the received power, the receiver transfer function and bandwidth, the received pulse shape, the APD gain, transmitted bit pattern, etc. In this section, results are presented showing the variation of the RMS jitter for different transmitted bit patterns, and for received power levels.

The jitter measurement technique described in Section 4.3 has been used to quantify jitter, given by the RMS value σ . The results presented here are for measurements done on the new clock recovery circuit. The recovered clock is at 50 MHz. Delay 1 was of duration 20.033 ns $\Delta = 0.033$ ns). The slope of the signal used to evaluate the timing jitter in Equation (4.9) was 3.68 x 10⁸ volts/second. The digitizing oscilloscope was set to a sampling speed of 100 MSamples/s on the real-time sampling mode. A transimpedance type of preamplifier was used, that had a frequency bandwidth of about 65 MHz; the low frequency 3 dB point was 20 KHz.

6.2.1 RMS Jitter versus Transmitted Data Pattern

Figure 6.9 illustrates the plot of Systematic RMS Jitter σ_s versus transmitted data pattern. The transmitted bit sequences are represented in terms of the number of consecutive zeros (Table 6.3). Table 6.3

Transmitted Data Sequence (16-bit repetitive pattern)	No. of consecutive Zeros
1010101010101010	1
1000100010001000	3
10000001000000	7
100000000000000	15

The measurement results shown in Figure 6.9 were performed electrically using an RF coaxial cable as the communication link. The random jitter $\sigma_{\rm R}$, which is caused by the noise present in the communication system now consists of only the thermal noise from the receiver amplifier electronics. We assume that this thermal noise is Legligible and hence



Fig. 6.9 RMS Systematic Jitter versus Transmitted Data Pattern

that the random jitter, $\sigma_{\rm R}^{},$ caused by this noise is also negligible. Since

$$\sigma_{\rm T} = \sqrt{\sigma_{\rm S}^2 + \sigma_{\rm R}^2} \qquad \dots (6.1)$$

where,

 $\sigma_{\rm T}$ = Total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm S}$ = Systematic RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm R}$ = Random RMS jitter

the measured total RMS jitter is approximately equal to the systematic jitter i.e. $\sigma_T \simeq \sigma_s$.

It can be noted from Figure 6.9 that the systematic RMS jitter, i.e., pattern-dependent jitter $\sigma_{\rm S}$, increases with increasing Δ . This is to be expected because, as the number of continuous zeros or ones increases, the recovered clock pulse advances by Δ seconds (relative to the ideal time) during each bit interval, until a 0 to 1 transition occurs. In other words, as the number of transitions in the received bit pattern decreases, the RMS systematic jitter $\sigma_{\rm S}$ increases. The systematic jitter varies between 0.89° to 2.56° for 1 to 15 consecutive ones or zeros.

Measurements of jitter were also made with 5 km. of optical fiber in place. The amount of optical power falling upon the APD was -48 dBm. The average received optical power was measured using a Photodyne model 22XLA optical power meter, which has an accuracy of \pm 0.1 dB. Figure 6.10 illustrates the relationship between the Total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$ versus the Transmitted data pattern. Again, the transmitted bit sequences are represented in terms of the number of consecutive ones or



Fig.6.10 Total RMS Jitter versus Transmitted Data Pattern (Received Optical Power = -48dBm) zeros (Table 6.3).

The measured total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$, now consists of the systematic RMS jitter; i.e., pattern-dependent jitter $\sigma_{\rm S}$ and the random RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm R}$, according to Equation (6.1). The random jitter is now caused mainly by the receiver shot noise due to the statistical nature of the photon-electron interaction.

We can observe from Figure 6.10 that the total RMS jitter σ_{T} also increases with an increase in Δ and it follows the same trend as in Figure 6.9. Comparing the two figures, we observe that σ_{T} is greater than σ_{S} for all the transmitted bit patterns except for 10000000000000000. This can be explained as follows:

which the measurements are performed electrically, only the pattern-dependent jitter or systematic jitter is present. For this case, therefore, the recovered clock pulses occur at the ideal time only when a 1 is present and advances Δ seconds later than the ideal time for the remaining 15 zeros, as the monostable multivibrator (MM) is triggered by the feedback pulses (see Fig. 6.11). On the other hand, when the experiment is performed optically; i.e., when both systematic and random jitter are present, the recovered clock does not necessarily advance for 15 continuous bits giving the negative slopes in Fig.6.11. The MM is triggered not only by feedback pulses but also by pulses generated by noise. The pulses due to noise can occur at any time before the ideal time, so that, the overall spread of the occurrence of the clock pulses is less when both systematic and random jitter are present, than when only systematic jitter is present. See Fig.6.12. Hence, $\sigma_{\rm r}$ is less than $\sigma_{\rm c}$ for the bit sequence 1000000000000000. For a power level of -48 dBm, $\sigma_{\rm T}$ varies between 1.79° to 2.48° for 1 to 15



Fig. 6.11 Electrically Recovered Clock for an NRZ input of 1000000000000000, as it appears on the Screen of the Digitizing Oscilloscope ($\Delta = 0.033$ ns).

.



Fig.6.12 Optically Recovered Clock for an NRZ input of $10000^{10}000000000$, as it appears on the Screen of the Digatizing Oscilloscope. (Received Optical Power = -50dBm, $\Delta = 0.033$ ns)

consecutive ones or zeros.

6.2.2 Total RMS Jitter versus Received Optical Power

Figure 6.13 illustrates the relationship between the Total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$ against Received Optical Power Level, for various 16-bit repetitive NRZ input data patterns. As an optical attenuator with proper matching connectors was not available, the amount of optical power falling upon the detector was varied by winding the optical fiber around a glass rod of diameter 2 cm. This gives rise to a controlled amount of microbending loss.

As can be observed from Fig.6.13, the total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$ decreases as the received optical power level increases. This is to be expected, because the jitter variance is inversely proportional to the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). As the power level increases, the random jitter $\sigma_{\rm R}$ due to noise decreases, whereas the systematic or pattern-dependent jitter does not change appreciably over the normal operating range. This can be seen by the flattening of the curves in Fig.6.13 for optical power levels above -48 dBm. The total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$ settles down to a value of 1.5° to 2° in the normal operating range (above -48 dBm), which is essentially the systematic RMS jitter; i.e., $\sigma_{\rm T} \simeq \sigma_{\rm S}$. But at very low power levels, (less than -50 dBm) it is the random jitter which is dominant. Hence in the normal operating range, the systematic jitter is the primary cause of the recovered clock timing jitter.

From Fig.6.13 we also observe that, for a given received optical power level, the total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$ increases as the number of transitions in the NRZ input data pattern decreases. This can be explained by the same argument as given in Section 6.2.1.





Fig.6.13 Measured Total RMS Jitter agreest Received Optical Power for a Fixed Pattern

Figure 6.14 illustrates the relationship between the Total RMS Jitter against Received Optical Power Level for NRZ pseudo-random bit sequences (PRBS) of length 2^{10} -1 and 2^{23} -1 respectively. Again the various optical power levels were achieved by winding the optical fiber around a glass rod.

It can be noted from Fig.6.14 that the total RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm T}$ mainly consists of the systematic RMS jitter $\sigma_{\rm S}$ in the normal operating range of -49 dBm and above. It lies between 2° to 2.5° and is slightly larger than that for fixed word patterns. The systematic RMS jitter is higher for the PRBS of length 2²³-1, as it has more pattern variations than the PRBS of length 2¹⁰-1.

At low power levels of -50 dBm and below, the random jitter due to noise, $\sigma_{\rm R}$, is dominant. It lies between 3° to 4°. This large value is because, as the received optical power level decreases, more and more primary pulses trigger the MM earlier than the ideal time, causing the jitter variance to increase. As the optical signal power increases, the random jitter decreases significantly.

The RMS jitter for the two PRBS at low power levels (-51 dBm) should be close to each other around 4°. The wide difference in our case shown in Fig.6.14 might be due to some experimental measurement error. Nevertheless, the results presented in this chapter are comparable with other measurement techniques made on different clock recovery circuits [35, 46, 92, 93].



Received Optical Power, dBm

Fig.6.14 Measured Total RMS Jitter against Received Optical Power for Pseudo-Random Bit Sequence

CHAPTER 7

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Telecommunication networks are increasingly employing digital technology to provide higher quality, less expensive, and more varied services to an increasing number of users. In a digital transmission system one important function of a communication receiver is to recover a sufficiently stable clock signal such that precise sampling instants can be generated in order to recover the original message signal. An unstable or jittering clock signal will impair the system BER performance. In other words, the BER deteriorates as the clock jitter increases. In order to quantify this important parameter and to assess the influence of jitter on the performance of an optical communication system, measurements of the amplitude distribution and RMS value of jitter are necessary [89,90].

Clock recovery at the receiver is normally a process of extracting a discrete component of the received signal spectrum at the pulse repetition frequency or one of its higher harmonics. As the spectral distribution of the received signal also contains the continuous spectrum, which tends to cause interference in the timing extraction process, the quality or stability of the recovered clock signal will depend on two major factors, namely: 1) the timing content of the received signal and 2) the characteristics of the timing extraction circuit at the receiver.

In this project, a bit-by-bit jitter measurement technique using a digitizing oscilloscope has been implemented to quantify the jitter generated in the new self-sustaining monostable multivibrator (MM) clock recovery circuit, originally developed by Witte and Moustakas

[70]. An NRZ type of line coding has been used for the input data.

A jitter measurement scheme has been implemented which provides a time and amplitude quantized histogram estimate for the probability density function of the timing jitter. It provides a statistical description, in that we can obtain the mean and the RMS value of the jitter phenomenon. The lowest jitter amplitude that can be measured is 1.7 ps. The peak-to-peak jitter that can be measured is limited by the linear rise time of the signal which in our case was 1.9 ns. The measurement scheme is dependent on the slope of the signal. The ultimate accuracy of the scheme is limited by the temporal and vertical resolution, the stability of the sampling, and the triggering and DC offset circuitry of the oscilloscope. Compared to earlier methods [75-83], this method has the advantage that an accurate estimate of the jitter variance can be obtained with no extra hardware circuitry. Also, the measurement scheme is independent of the data format. The measurement sensitivity could be improved by utilizing a digitizing oscilloscope having more bits of vertical resolution.

An experimental 50 Mb/s optical fiber communication system employing the NRZ code, and using the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit was constructed and set up. Bit-by-bit jitter measurements were performed for various data patterns and for various received optical power levels.

During the course of the project it was observed that the primary pulses at the output of the transition detector in the original clock recovery circuit [70] did not occur at integral multiples of the bit period T. This was because the rising and falling edges of the input pulse had different gradients and hence they crossed the EX-OR gate threshold level at slightly different times. This was identifiable in this project only because the jitter measurements were made on a bit-by-bit basis, otherwise it could have gone unnoticed. This problem was overcome by replacing the EX-OR gate type of transition detector in [70] by a monostable multivibrator which triggers only on the rising edge. This has been referred to in this thesis as the "new version of the MM clock recovery circuit".

On obtaining the histogram estimate for the pdf of the timing jitter of the recovered clock, it was noted that the performance of the clock recovery circuit is different when it is triggered by a primary pulse or by a feedback pulse. Whenever there is a transition from a 1 to a 0 in the input data to the clock recovery circuit, the clock pulse due to the 0 bit does not occur Δ seconds after the ideal time (feedback delay T1 = T + Δ), but occurs 0.095 ns to 0.16 ns later, depending on the transmitted bit sequence. This is due to the difference in the shapes of the primary pulse and the feedback pulse. The distortion in the feedback pulse shape is probably due to the filtering of high frequency components by the RF coaxial cable (feedback delay 1 of Fig.5.3), thereby increasing the rise time of the signal. A small improvement in the measured values might be possible, if some other means of providing feedback delay is incorporated.

The experimental results of measured RMS jitter versus transmitted data pattern confirm that the monostable clock recovery circuit inhibits the late arriving data pulses from triggering the monostable multivibrator. The clock jitter variance is proportional to the difference between the feedback delay and the bit interval, represented by Δ . The measured RMS jitter increases as the number of transitions in the data pattern decreases. At how received power levels the clock recovery circuit is triggered not only by the feedback pulses but also by false pulses caused by noise. This may cause the measured RMS jitter to decrease, especially if the bit sequence contains a long sequence of ones or zeros.

The measured RMS jitter against received optical power level demonstrates that the total RMS jitter decreases is the power falling on the detector increases. In the normal operating range, it is the systematic or pattern-dependent jitter that is dominant and it remains more or less constant throughout this region. Thus the jitter on the recovered clock in the normal operating range is due to the randomness of the leceived bit pattern. At low received power levels, the random jitter or bit transition jitter flue to APD shot noise and additive circuit noise is dominant. The random jitter increases with decreasing optical power, but in the normal operating range, the pattern-dependent jitter is dominant.

Although this thesis has experimented with various jitter measurement techniques and investigated the jitter performance of the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit, it was necessarily limited in its scope due to time constraints. To continue the work of this thesis, further research could be conducted in the following areas:

1. A widely used technique for the evaluation of a digital communication system is to obtain curves of bit error rate (BER) versus signal-to-noise ratio. It would be useful to obtain curves of BER against received optical power level with the jitter variance as a parameter to predict the performance of the experimental system.

2. It would be interesting to compare the experimental results obtained above with the theory. This would necessitate the evaluation of a theoretical expression for the probability of error, taking into account the time-dependent nature of the jitter pdf and the statistics of the line code.

3. The RMS value of jitter should be obtained for various amounts of feedback delay.

4. The jitter measurement range described in Section 4.3 is limited by the linear rise-time of the signal. One way to increase the measurement range is to integrate the recovered clock and then apply it to the digitizing oscilloscope. It would be worth trying this scheme experimentally.

5. The bit-by-bit jitter measurements should be repeated using the modified monostable clock recovery circuit, in order to determine its jitter performance.

6. To further characterize the monostable clock recovery circuit, it would be interesting to measure the power penalty versus jitter variance.

7. The time delays used in the clock recovery circuit were provided by a 50 ohm RF coaxial cable. This is not convenient for field use, because i) even a slight disturbance causes the output waveform to be distorted, ii) it is not convenient to change the length of the cable each time the amount of time delay needs to be changed, and iii) finally, the propagation delay of these cables varies with temperature. Hence, other methods of providing the delay should be investigated.

8. The accumulation of jitter produced by the self-sustaining

monostable clock recovery circuit over several repeaters ust be studied before it could be considered for use in long-haul fiber optic systems.

9. The jitter produced by the self-sustaining monostable clock recovery circuit should be compared with other clock recovery circuits such as the dielectric resonator filter (DRF), surface acoustic wave filter (SAW), phase locked loop (PLL) and the LC filter. This could be done for various line codes, receiver bandwidths and noise characteristics.

10. Lastly, it would be useful to study the effect of Poisson distributed shot noise (such as is produced by an APD photodetector) on timing jitter, using a monostable clock recovery circuit.

It is sincerely hoped that the work done in this thesis may prove to be a useful contribution for future work on jitter measurement and analysis in clock recovery circuits for optical fiber communication systems.

REFERENCES

- [1] COCK C.C., EDWARDS A.K., JESSOP A., "Timing Jitter in Digital Line Systems", IEE Conf. Publ. 131 (Telecommunication transmission), London, Sept. 1975, pp. 33-36.
- [2] PATRICK R. TRISCHITTA and EVE L. VARMA, "Jitter in Digital Transmission Systems", Artech House, 1989.
- [3] BYLANSKI P., INGRAM D.G.W., "Digital Transmission Systems", Peter Peregrinus, 1980, Chapter 10.
- [4] COCK C.C., "A Computer Simulation of Timing Perturbations Produced in Digital Transmission", IERE Conf. Proc., 23, 1972, pp. 463-474.
- [5] KUMAR S.VISVANATHA, "Implementation of the Petrovic Code with a Self-sustaining Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit in a Fiber Optic System", M.Sc. Thesis, University of Alberta, Spring 1987.
- [6] Cattermole K.W., "Principles of Digital Line Coding", Int. J. Electronics, Vol. 55, No. 1, 1983, pp. 3-33.
- [7] Game C., Jessop A., "Random Coding for Digital Systems", Proceedings of the First European Conference on Optical Fiber Communication, Conf. Publ. No.132, 1975, pp. 171-173.
- [8] Rousseau M., "Block Codes for Optical-Fiber Communications", Electronics Letters, Vol. 12, No. 18, 1976, pp. 478-479.
- [9] Takasaki Y., Tanaka M., Maeda N., Yamashita K., Nageno K., "Optical Pulse Formats for Optical Digital Communications", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol. Com-24, April 1976, pp. 404-413.
- [10] Brooks R.M., Jessop A., "Line Coding for Optical Fiber Systems", Int. J. Electronics, Vol.55, No.1, 1983, pp.81-126.
- [11] Lacroix J.C., "Line Signals in Submarine Digital Telephone Links using Optical Fibers", IEEE JSAC, Vol. SAC-2, No.6, 1984, 1038-41.
- [12] Rade Petrovic, "Low Redundancy Optical Fiber Line Code", J. of Opt. Commun., Vol.9, No.3, 1988, pp.108-111.
- [13] Blackmore R.W., Fell P.H., "8.448 Mbits Optical Fiber System", Proc. First European Conf. on Optical Fiber Commun., 1975, pp.182-184.
- [14] Rade Petrovic, "New Transmission Code for Digital Optical Communications, Electronics Letters, Vol.14, 1978, 541-542.
- [15] Muska W.M., "An Experimental Optical-Fiber Link for Low-Bit-Rate Applications", Bell Syst. Tech. J., Vol. 56, 1977, pp.65-75.

- [16] Ming-Kang Liu, David G. Messerschmitt, "A Fixed Transition Coding for High Speed Timing Recovery at 200 Mb/s in Fiber Optics Networks", Intl. Conf. on Commun., Vol.1, 1987, pp. 188-192.
- [17] Paul R. Prucnal, Philippe A. Perrier, Carollynn Brandmaier, "A Low DC, Self-Clocking, Two-Color Transmission Code for Optical Communications", Proc. IEEE, Vol.75, No.6, 1987, pp.856-858.
- [18] Paul R. Prucnal, Philippe A. Perrier, "A Rate-Transparent, Self-Clocking Line Code, Proc. IEEE, Vol. 75, No. 8, 1987, pp. 1123-1125.
- [19] Bosotti L., Pirani G., "A New Signalling Format for Optical Communications", Electronics Letters, Vol.14, No.3, 1978, pp.71-73.
- [20] Rade Petrovic, "On-Line Codes for Digital Optical Communications", Optical & Quantum Electronics, Vol.12, 1980, pp.91-93.
- [21] Jones E.V., Zhu S., "Data Sequence Coding for Low Jitter Timing Recovery", Electronics Letters, Vol.23, No.7, 1987, pp. 337-338.
- [22] Ernest E. Bergmann, Andrew M. Odlyzko, Suresh H. Sangani, "Half Weight Block Codes for Optical Communications", AT & T Technical Journal, May/June 1986, pp.85-93.
- [23] Webb P.P., McIntyre R.J., Conradi J., "Properties of Avalanche Photodiodes", RCA Review, Vol.35, 1974, pp.234-278.
- [24] COCK C.C., "Assessment of Timing Jitter in Digital Telecommunications Transmission Systems", IEE Proc. F, vol.134, No.5, 1987, pp. 464-473.
- [25] ROWE H.E., "Timing in a Long Chain of Binary Regenerative Repeaters", Bell Syst. Tech. J., vol.37, No.6, 1958, pp. 1543-1599.
- [26] DeLANGE O.E., "The Timing of High-speed Regenerative Repeaters", Boll Syst. Tech. J., vol. 37, No.6, 1958, pp. 1455-1487.
- [27] BENNETT W.R., "Statistics of Regenerative Digital Transmission", Bell Syst. Tech. J., vol. 37, No.6, 1958, pp. 1501-1542.
- [28] MANLEY J.M., "The Generation and Accumulation of Timing Noise in PCM Systems - An Experimental and Theoretical Study", Bell Syst. Tech. J., vol.48, 1969, pp.511-613.
- [29] BYRNE C.J. et al, "Systematic Jitter in a Chain of Digital Regenerators", Bell Syst. Tech. J., vol.42, No.6, 1963, pp.2679-2714.
- [30] KEARSEY B.N., McLINTOCK R.W., "Jitter in Digital Telecommunication Networks", The Radio and Electronic Engineer, vol.54, No.2, 1984, pp. 70-78.

- [31] CATTERMOLE K.W., "Principles of Pulse Code Modulation", Iliffe Books Ltd., London, 1969, p.113.
- [32] COCK C.C., "Jitter Tolerances in Digital Equipment", IEE colloquium on jitter in digital communication systems, 1977, Digest No. 1977/45.
- [33] PROAKIS J.G., "Digital Communications", McGraw-Hill, 1983.
- [34] Gardner W.A., "Introduction to Random Processes", Macmillan, 1986, Ch. 12.
- [35] Millicker D.J. and Standley R.D., "2 Gb/s Timing Recovery Circuit using Dielectric Resonator Filter", Electronics Letters, Vol.23, 1987, pp. 738-739.
- [36] Takasaki Y., "Timing Extraction in Baseband Pulse Transmission", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol.Com-28, No.12, 1980, pp.877-883.
- [37] Rosenberg R.L. et al, "Optical Fiber Repeatered Transmission Systems utilizing SAW Filters", IEEE Trans. Sonics and Ultrasonics, 1983, pp. 119-126.
- [38] Saltzberg B., "Timing Recovery for Synchronous Binary Data Transmission", Bell Syst. Tech. J., 1967, pp.593-615.
- [39] Mazo J.E., "Jitter Comparison of Tones Generated by Squaring and by Fourth-power Circuits", Bell Syst. Tech. J., 1978, pp. 1489-1498.
- [40] Le-Ngoc T., Feher K., "A Digital Approach to Symbol Timing Recovery", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol.Com-28, 1980, pp.1993-1999.
- [41] Gangopadhyay R., Datta D., "Timing Recovery in Optical Receivers for NRZ signalling", Electronics Letters, Vol.22, No.1, 1986, pp. 38-39.
- [42] Shin D. et al, "Self-Correcting Clock Recovery Circuit with Improved Jitter Performance", Electronics Letters, Vol.23, No.3, 1987, pp.110-111.
- [43] Gangopadhyay R., Cochrane P., "Data Clock Jitter in Supersampling Multiplex Transmission", Electronics Letters, Vol.23, No.22, 1987, pp. 1203-1204.
- [44] Park M.S. et al, "Novel Regenerator having Simple Clock Extraction and Automatic Phase-controlled Retiming Circuit", Electronics Letters, Vol. 25, No. 1, 1989, pp. 83-84.
- [45] Roza E., "Analysis of Phase-locked Timing Extraction Circuits for Pulse Code Transmission", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol. com-22, 1974, pp. 1236-1249.

- [46] Way W.I., "High Speed Circuit Technology for Multi-gigabit/sec Optical Communication Systems", Intl. Conf. on Commun., Philadelphia, June 1988.
- [47] Duttweiler D.L., "The Jitter Performance of Phase-locked Loops Extracting Timing from Baseband Data Waveforms", Bell Syst. Tech. J., Vol.55, No.1, 1976, pp. 37-58.
- [48] Teo K.H., "Error Mechanisms and Clock Recovery on Four-level PWM Optical Fiber Systems", M.Sc. Thesis, University of Alberta, Spring 1985.
- [49] Franks L.E., Bubrouski J.P., "Statistical Properties of Timing Jitter in a PAM Timing Recovery Scheme", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol.com-22, No.7, 1974, pp.913-920.
- [50] Mengali U., Pirani G., "Jitter Accumulation in PAM Systems", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol.com-28, No.8, 1980, pp.1172-1183.
- [51] Munoz-Rodriguez O., Cattermole K.W., "Time Jitter in Self-Timed Regenerative Repeaters with Correlated Transmitted Symbols", Electronic Circuits and Systems, Vol.3, No.3, May 1979, pp. 109-115.
- [52] Trischitta P.R., Sannuti P., "The Validity of the Linear, Shift-Invariant Model of Jitter for a Fiber Optic Regenerator", IEEE Trans. Com., 1988.
- [53] Rosenberg R.L., Chamzas C., Fishman D.A., "Timing Recovery with SAW Transversal Filters in the Regenerators of Undersea Long Haul Fiber Transmission Systems", IEEE/OSA Journal of Lightwave Technology, Vol. LF2, No.6, December 1984, pp.917-925.
- [54] Cock C.C., "The Accumulation of Jitter in Digital Line Links", IEE Colloquium on jitter in digital Communication systems, 1977, Digest No. 1977/45.
- [55] McNally B.I., Carter S.F., Walker S.D., "Jitter Accumulation in a Simulated 591.2 Mbit/s, 6000 Km Optical Transmission System", Electronics Letters, Vol.24, No.11, May 1988, pp.676-678.
- [56] Walker S.D., Carpenter R.B.P., Cochrane P., "Jitter Accumulation with SAW Timing Extraction at 325 Mbaud", Electronics Letters, Vol.19, No.6, March 1983, pp.193-194.
- [57] Takasaki Y., "Alignment Jitter Accumulation in a Chain of Processing Node Regenerators", Intl. Conf. on Commun.'89, June 11-14, 1989, Boston, New York, USA.
- [58] Patrick R. Trischitta, Sannuti P., Chamzas C., "A Circulating Loop Experimental Technique to Simulate the Jitter Accumulation of a Chain of Fiber-Optic Regenerators", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol. 36, No. 2, February 1988, pp. 205-213.

- [59] Patrick R. Trischitta, Sannuti P., "The Accumulation of Pattern-Dependent Jitter for a Chain of Fiber Optic Regenerators", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol. 36, No. 6, June 1988, pp. 761-765.
- [60] Chamzas C., "Accumulation of Jitter: A Stochastic Model", AT & T Technical Journal, Vol.64, No.1, January 1985, pp. 43-76.
- [61] Wilbrod J.H., Moulu J., "Jitter Accumulation in Optical Transmission Systems", Electronics Letters, Vol.21, No.17, August 1985, pp.740-742.
- [62] Masaki Amemiya, Mamoru Aiki, Takeshi Ito, "Jitter Accumulation for Geriodic Pattern Signals", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol. Com-34, No.5, May 1986, pp. 475-480.
- [63] Agrawal G.P., Shen T.M., "Power Penalty due to Decision-Time Jitter in Optical Communication Systems", Electronics Letters, Vol.22, No.9, April 1986, pp. 450-451.
- [64] Schumacher K., O'Reilly J.J., "Power Penalty due to Jitter on Optical Communication Systems", Electronics Letters, Vol.23, No.14, July 1987, pp.718-719.
- [65] Shen T.M., "Power Penalty due to Decision-Time Jitter in Receivers using Avalanche Photodiodes", Electronics Letters, Vol.22, No.20, September 1986, pp. 1043-1044.
- [66] Nar Singh, Jain V.K., Gupta H.M., "Performance of Heterodyne Coherent Optical Fiber Communication Systems in Presence of Shot Noise, LO Excess Noise, Laser Phase Noise and Time Jitter", Journal of Optical Communications, Vol.10, No.2, 1989, pp.48-53.
- [67] Lindsey W.C., Simon M.K., "Telecommunications Systems Engineering", Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1973, ch.3.
- [68] Stiffler J.J., "Theory of Synchronous Communications", Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1971, ch. 9.
- [69] Schooley L.C., Davis G.R., "Jitter Effects on Bit Error Rate Reexamined", IEEE Trans. Com., Vol. COM-29, No.6, June 1981, pp. 920-922.
- [70] Witte H.H., Moustakas S., "Simple Clock Extraction Circuit using a Self-Sustaining Monostable Multivibrator Output Signal", Electronics Letters, Vol. 19, No. 21, 1983, pp. 897-898.
- [71] Ziemer and Tranter, "Principles of Communication", Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston, 1976, p. 334.
- [72] Fletcher I., "Comparison of Regenerator Tolerance to Sinusoidal and Gaussian Alignment Jitter", Electronics Letters, Vol.23, No.2, January 1987, pp.67-68.

- [73] Wozencraft J.M. and Jacobs I.M., "Principles of Communication Engineering", John Wiley and Sons, 1965, pp.63-61.
- [74] Visvanatha K.S., Goud P.A., Englefield C.G., "Jatter Reduction in Self-Sustaining Monostable Clock Recovery Circuit", Electronics Letters, Vol.22, No.16, July 1986, pp.855-856.
- [75] Hill S.E. and Butler D.J., "Jitter Measurements on a 324 Mbaud Optical System", IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [76] Betts M.C., Norman P. and Waters D.B., "Factory and Field trial Experience of the 120 Mbit/s Digital Line System", IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [77] Hall R.D., Lancaster H.A., "Prediction and Measurement of Jitter on Digital Links" IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [78] Thomson R.D., Huckett E.P., Hillery P.J., "Design & Application of Jitter Measuring Instrumentation", IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [79] Hoyer W., "Jitter Measurements at Bitrates upto 167 Mbit/s", IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [80] William W. Rollins, Jeffrey G. Adams, "Jitter and Digital Transmission systems", IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [81] Hurst G.C., Holmes W.H., Zakarevicius R.A., "Symbol-by-Symbol Jitter Measurement in High-Speed Digital Systems", Electronics Letters, Vol. 13, No. 3, February 1977, pp. 81-82.
- [82] Cochrane P., Barley I.W., O'Reilly J.J., "Direct Jitter Measurement Technique", Electronics Letters, Vol.15, No.24, November 1979, pp.774-776.
- [83] Rogerson S.P., Sendell A.A., "Jitter Measurement using a Digital Processing Oscilloscope", IEE Conf. Publ. 256 (MTTS'85), London, November 1985.
- [84] Tektronix 7854 Reference Manual.
- [85] Gowar J., "Optical Communication Systems", Prentice-Hall International, 1984, pp. 78-80.
- [86] Staff of Bell Northern Research and Northern Telecom, Course Notes on Optical Fiber Communication and Technology, 1984.
- [87] John M. Senior, "Optical Fiber Communications", Prentice-Hall International, 1985, p. 76.

- [88] Taub H., Schilling D., "Digital Electronics", McGraw-Hill, 1977, pp. 557-562.
- [89] O'Reilly J.J., Da Rocha J.R.F. and Schumacher K., "Influence of Timing Errors on the Performance of Strect-detection Optical-fiber Communication Systems", IEE Proceedings J., 1985, 132, (6), pp. 309-313.
- [90] O'Reilly J.J., Schumacher K., "Distribution Free Bound on the Performance of Optical Communication Systems in the Presence of Jitter", IEE Proceedings, Vol.136, Pt. J, No.2, April 1989, pp. 129-136.
- [91] Bennett W.R. and Davey J.R., "Data Transmission", New York: McGraw-Hill, 1965.
- [92] Way W.I., Gimlett J.L., Runge K., Cheung N.K., "New Data Regeneration Scheme for Multi-Gbit/s Fibre-Optic Links", Electronics Letters, Vol.24, No.23, November 1988, pp.1405-1406.
- [93] Takano I., Akashi F., "A 1/N Countdown Timing Extraction Circuit for a Gigabit Optical Fiber Transmission System", 14th European Conference on Optical Communication, September 1988, pp. 195-198.
- [94] Golomic S.W., "Shift Register Sequences", Aegean Park Press, 1982.







· · · ,





STREET, SALAR SHE STATE

•

.









